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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

Dear Shareholders,

2021 was a year in which the world continued to fight against the
COVID-19 pandemic. Since the global economy was hit by the
pandemic, overseas investment projects around the globe have
delayed, which had serious impact on our businesses in Africa and
Asia. Under the guidance of the board of directors, our management
adjusted the operation and development strategies according to
the international situation and our current conditions, by optimizing
business presence and focusing resources on major projects, to
take full advantages of our brand and customers accumulated over
the years, as a result of which we were quite successful on a number
of projects. In addition, we moderately scaled down our existing
business presence, streamline the workforce structure and increased
efficiency, as well as strictly controlled cost, leading to a significant
decrease in the overall loss. As a result, the business objectives set
at the beginning of the year have almost been achieved. | would
like to present the operation of Frontier Services Group Limited
(“Frontier” or the “Group”) in 2021 to the shareholders as below.

FOCUSING ON KEY PROJECTS AND BUILDING THE
BRAND

In the past few years, the Group obtained security licenses in more
than ten major countries, realizing localized operation, and largely
covering all critical regions along the “Belt and Road” initiative. With
the joint efforts of the team, Frontier has gradually built international,
professional and localized security workforce, and established
a high-level management process and operation standards. The
Frontier’'s security brand has been widely known among the Chinese
enterprises overseas. Security, as the core business of Frontier, has
driven the integrated development of logistics, insurance, air rescue
and other businesses.

In 2021, through further improvement and adjustment, the Group
vigorously promoted high-end security, logistics, insurance and
other core businesses characterized by Frontier, and integrated
and made full use of its existing resources by focusing its resources
on key countries and projects and closely aligning its business
presence and development with the political and economic situation
of the countries where the businesses were located. As a result, it
has successfully achieved a business growth in the context of the
global economic downturn.
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FERE

IMPROVING THE STRUCTURE AND REDUCING THE
COST

In 2021, the Group continued to promote the optimization of
business presence, further streamlined the organization, improved
the structure of the workforce and reduced its overall operating
cost. It adopted effective measures to reduce losses, and put more
human and financial resources in facilitating the implementation of
key and major projects, so as to increase the overall revenue, and to
ensure the Group’s business stable and sustainable for a long term.

ACHIEVEMENTS

After a year of adjustment and development, and with the joint
efforts of the management and employees of the Group, Frontier
has achieved significant results in some countries, subsidiaries
and key projects, recording a turnaround in some aspects and
a significant increase in the security and insurance businesses.
PAL has achieved profitability for two consecutive years, and its
performance in several major projects has been fully recognized
and accredited by local governments and Chinese organizations
overseas, enhancing the Frontier’s security brand.

ACQUISITIONS AND MERGERS

In October 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of DeWe
Security Limited, which has comprehensive security qualifications
and experience that would generate synergies with Frontier to
increase the market share more rapidly. Its healthcare services
would provide innovative intelligent medical solutions and expand
the Group’s presence in the healthcare field, enabling the Group to
satisfy customers’ needs for security and medical services in a full
range, and differentiating the Group in the market competition. It will
therefore become the Group’s new business and economic growth
point.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
ISSUES

As a company with services spanning across several continents,
the Group, while promoting business growth, also requires the
management team to integrate the concept of sustainability into
business operations, so as to create long-term and sustainable
value for all stakeholders. During the year, the Group prioritized
climate change, occupational health and safety, employee training
and development, service quality and safety, and community
investment as material environmental, social and governance
issues. Responding to the severe threat brought by the COVID-19,
the Group not only adopted various preventive measures to protect
the health and safety of employees, but also actively engaged in the
pandemic prevention and control in the countries and regions where
it was located. It has repeatedly provided air rescue, transportation
of medical devices and consumables and other services for those
patients with serious diseases in various countries, and donated a
large amount of anti-pandemic materials to non-profit organisations
such as communities, associations and elderly care centers, to fully
fulfill the Group’s social responsibilities.

OUTLOOK FOR 2022

2021 was a challenging year for the Group. Due to the COVID-19,
the expansion of major projects was slow down, and each of the
board of directors and management has undergone an adjustment.
Nonetheless, the Group’s management team and all employees have
withstood the test of the pandemic, with a growth in the operating
performance despite of the adversity. The board of directors
believes that, in 2022, the new management team will lead the
employees to continue to leverage the unique advantages of Frontier
and further optimize the management and business structure, to
keep generating greater value for its shareholders by overcoming
all obstacles. Thank you everyone for your unfailing attention,
confidence and support that you have been giving to the Group.

Chang Zhenming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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¥, MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

REVIEW OF RESULTS KEOE

Overall Performance BERR
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T-FF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEEAEDHZWA 756,123 605,246
Cost of direct materials and job expenses BEEMEBRRITERS (248,400) (152,467)
Cost of aircraft management services TR E I8 AR 7S A AN - (81,520)
Data costs IR AR (6,073) (5,907)
Employee benefit expenses EERBHHAX (242,431) (238,984)
Sub-contracting charges HEER (197,948) (166,942)
Rental expenses HeBH (12,562) (12,692)
Repair and maintenance costs wiERREER (14,223) (21,694)
Depreciation and amortisation e R i (49,684) (53,569)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiaries HERBARZEE - (486)
Other operating expenses HipLEER (67,048) (72,105)
Other income and other gains, net E Aty U A R H At U 25 BE 8,335 4,263
Provision for impairment of property, plant and  ¥73 - #2838 & R A &
equipment and right-of-use assets Tt FAAE 2 R E (15,731) -
Provision for impairment of other intangibles HEMEREEZRERE (2,029) -
Impairment losses on financial assets CRIEEZRERRE (30,866) (14,266)
Operating loss giEEE (122,537) (211,123)
Interest income SN ON 2,033 3,702
Finance costs B B AN (15,231) (19,485)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates and a IR E AR R —RAE
joint venture, net NREER(EE) F58E 3,344 (2,478)
Provision for impairment of assets held-for-sale 3£ & & 2 2 FE B # (10,396) -
Provision for impairment of interest in an R—RKEE AT 2w
associate VERERE - (8,693)
Loss before income tax KRETISBLRTETIE (142,787) (238,077)
Income tax (expense)/credit s (%) & (14,392) 9,491
Loss for the year FEEE (157,179) (228,586)

8 Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 22 BR7% = E B R A 7



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

Since the World Health Organisation declared COVID-19 a pandemic
in early 2020, more and more countries across the globe shut down
their borders and limited transportation and travel to contain the
coronavirus (“COVID-19") outbreak, thus, creating impediments
for international business and logistic chains. As the outbreak
caused disruptions in supply chain operations, the logistics and
transportation industries were hampered in various ways across air,
freight, and sea segments. The situation in 2021 has slightly been
stabilised as more and more people have got vaccinated and more
control measures on social distancing and against COVID-19 have
been implemented around the globe. 2021 is the second financial
year for Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) to operate our businesses under
the pandemic. The Group has overcome a lot of challenges and
difficulties and made good use of our resources so as to improve its
operational performance.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

Y

B REFEARE_S_TFYSHHETM
AERASRHRERXRITUAR  2HBREZE
REFEIRL R BIE SR M IRE - LB HI B
S(HEBREER)BRE KM ABEKEE
RREm KRR - ARNRITEHHEREET
B MRKEREEEE  BENMSEREFE
EREEARTE - BEURUZ ARERE
AEE2REWERESH IR MEEHUT
RESHEERE  RER_FT_—FHER
Eo T —FRESRBEEERAR([F
DR REMBAR (G [A&@])ERBT
REXBZF _EPRFE - AREC KRR
ZHBRRE YRS ZREMANERASZE

g

MBERERIER

As at 31 December

Rt+=-A=+—-8H

2020
—ERTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
Basic loss per share TR EAREE (6.81) cents (9.72) cents
As at 31 December
R+=—B=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Total assets BEBE 1,173,473 939,918
Equity attributable to the Company’s RARIRIERFE A
equity holders FE(L = 384,639 508,666
Net asset value per share BREEFE
(excluding non-controlling interests) (BRI AR ) 16 cents 22 cents
Cash and bank balances Re RBTESF 267,431 318,681
Current ratio TR R 2.00 2.61
Total liabilities-to-total assets ratio BBEEEELE 0.57 0.33
Price to book ratio mHEX 3.78 2.90

The reduction in cash and bank balances by HK$51,250,000
was mainly due to the net cash used in operating activities of
HK$22,324,000, the net cash used in investing activities of
HK$192,669,000 and the net cash generated from financing
activities of HK$160,798,000.

B & MIRIT4 TR 251,250,000 7t £ ZH R
REREMA 2R S F8 22,324,000 7T« &
BIEE T 2 I 4 %8 192,669,000 7T © LA K
BB EBFTS 2 IREF 5 160,798,000 7T ©
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Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHZIBA

2021 2020
—E-—F TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Aviation and logistics business Mz MIRER 494,241 510,443
Security, insurance and infrastructure business Z{#® * Rk M EEEK 236,148 80,120
Financial market information business SIS EAERS 14,095 14,480
Others HAth 11,639 203
756,123 605,246

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group reported a BEZZ-—FTA=+—HIEFE  &~5H

consolidated revenue of HK$756,123,000 (2020: HK$605,246,000),
representing an increase of 25% and the Group’s loss for the year
was reduced substantially by HK$71,407,000 from HK$228,586,000
in 2020 to HK$157,179,000 in 2021, which was mainly due to
the improvement in operating result in our aviation, security and
infrastructure business. Also, certain cost cutting measures were in
place during 2021 to further reduce our other operating costs.

The increase in the Group’s revenue was mainly attributable to
the growth in the security, insurance and infrastructure business
segment for the year ended 31 December 2021. It mainly resulted
from revenue generated from the provision of security services for
projects in South-East Asia and Africa.

Overall Performance
Aviation and Logistics Business

The Group’s aviation and logistics business reported a decrease in
revenue of approximately HK$16,202,000, after taking into account
the reduction in revenue of HK$104,364,000 as a result of the
completion of the disposal of the Group’s 51% interests in Maleth
Aero Limited (“Maleth”) in 2020. The reduction in revenue of Maleth
was compensated by the significant growth in revenue by Frontier
Logistics (Shanghai) Company Limited (“SH Logistics”) and
Phoenix Aviation Limited (“PAL").

SH Logistics’s growth in revenue was mainly due to the increase in
provision of integrated logistics with procurement services to those
infrastructural projects in countries in Africa and South East Asia
because of the resumption of the construction works. During 2021,
SH Logistics managed to report a marked reduction in net operating
loss.

Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 22 BR7% = E B R A 7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &

BEEENWE DN

PALs performance continued to improve during 2021 and its profit
increased significantly. The number of flying hours increased
dramatically and PAL managed to secure fixed and guaranteed
income contracts with some of its major customers. Although
COVID-19 caused certain restrictions on cross border flying, PAL
managed to take advantage of rendering more medical evacuation
or air ambulance services, which generated much more revenue
and profit to the Group. For 2021, PAL was one of the profit-making
subsidiaries within the Group.

One of the Group’s logistics bases located in South Africa, Transit
Freight Forwarding (Pty) Ltd (“TFF”), was loss-making for the past
two years. Its operating performance was greatly affected by cross
border lockdowns, restrictions on supply chains, and the suspension
of production as imposed by South Africa government. Warehousing
capacity of TFF was under-utilised or left idle for certain months
during the year, which resulted in gross loss for those months. This
greatly affected the overall operating result of TFF and its revenue
further decreased during 2021. Although its gross profit margin
slightly improved when compared with last year, its loss for 2021
was increased due to impairment provisions made against some
non-current assets including right-of-use assets of HK$10,342,000,
intangible assets of HK$2,029,000 as well as the derecognition of
deferred tax assets of HK$10,799,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group reported a
revenue of HK$494,241,000 (2020: HK$510,443,000) and an
operating loss of HK$46,704,000 (2020: an operating loss of
HK$52,582,000) from this segment.

Security, Insurance and Infrastructure Business

This segment reported a significant improvement in both revenue
and operating results, in particular, the security and infrastructure
segments.

The Group’s subsidiaries in Africa involved in the provision of
security services in Africa countries reported a growth in revenue
and result because the Group secured security contracts in certain
of the Africa countries. Right now, the Group has rendered security
services to Chinese entities in Africa and South-East Asia.

On insurance business, the Group’s insurance related associated
company reported a share of net profit of HK$3,804,000 (2020:
HK$176,000).

BEMZEZRER T - —F/HENS - HAEN
ARBEIEIN o FRATH BUKIEIE AN - MR EM Z= K
BIBEPIVEERERAGH - BEHL
ERREE BB R ZERE TR - BEMZ
KIhEREBERIE S BREMELZEPRIER
% RAKESREZRARERN - R-_FT——

FREMEAAEESESRMNZMEARZ

— o

A& B E R — AL IE 2 YR & Transit
Freight Forwarding (Pty) Ltd ([ TFF ) i@ 4
AR - HISEXET SN - HIEERH &
RN TE RETE - TFF?%WE\

7

AERETADARERSNAXEE - EHEF

Hfﬁﬁ?%%%}gﬂé ° &t%%%%TFFZW@ SRS

CMEWRAR T —FiE— ;F/W\ B RE
%%\Jfﬂzﬁﬁtmﬁzﬁa&% BEA-_ZT——
ZEBEN  EEARBE TIERDEEEDLR
BRE REFAEEE10,342,00087T « &
FEE 2,029,000 70 + U REUHERELEHIE
&7 10,799,000 7T °

HE-_Z-—F+-_A=+—HILFE ' ~5£H
R D EERGURA 494,241,000 T (T -F
1 510,443, oooﬁém) N & 18 [E5 18 46,704,000
BIL( T T4 - EEE1852,582,000/87T) °

LR REEREZEE

A%ZWA&Miiﬁﬂﬁﬁ%gﬁi =R
ZIRREZEDEL ©

REE AIEMBE IR M % R IR TS 2 FEMFHT B 2 7]
BEWAREFERE  AAREERELIENE
FEUSZEREX - BAT - AEBECS RN IEMN R
REBmH EbERBE L RRE

RRBEB B AEEZRBRABREZE QR
SRS (5 A E 3,804,000 L (T -2 F
176,000/870) ©

Annual Report 2021 %

11



12

BEEENWE DN

On infrastructure business, the Group carried out an engineering,
procurement and construction (“EPC”) contract for the construction
of headquarter office building for Air Force of Lao People’s
Democratic Republic (“Laos”). The construction period of this
contract is 2 years. Owing to the pandemic, the commencement
of the construction work was delayed but certain phases of the
construction were completed as of 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group reported
a revenue of HK$236,148,000 (2020: HK$80,120,000) and an
operating loss of HK$22,553,000 (2020: an operating loss of
HK$79,441,000) from this segment.

Provision for Impairment Loss of Property, Plant and Equipment,
Right-of-Use Assets, Financial Assets and Investment in an
Associated Company classified as Assets Held-for-Sale

As mentioned in the preceding paragraph on TFF, its businesses
were greatly affected by the pandemic in South Africa. The
pandemic caused a lot of unpredictable side effects to South
Africa’s economy, which included change in logistic chain pattern,
reduction in freight rate and other social problems such as increase
in hijacking and robbery. All these resulted in under-utilisation of
warehousing, reduction in profit margins and increase in operational
costs such as diesel costs and insurance premium. As a result,
management of the Group carried out another impairment test over
TFF’s non-current assets in view of the fact that (i) the impact of the
pandemic towards its business operation in South Africa will sustain
for a much longer period than we initially expect; and (ii) the impact
of COVID-19 has yet come to the peak. By reference to the cash
flow projections prepared by management of the Group, impairment
provisions have been set aside against its right-of-use assets and
intangible assets amounting to HK$10,342,000 and HK$2,029,000,
respectively.

Provision for impairment losses was made against non-performing
aircraft amounting to HK$5,389,000 during the year ended 31
December 2021. Such provision was charged against the carrying
amount of one aircraft so as to reflect its recoverable amount as
at 31 December 2021. The respective aircraft was reclassified to
assets held-for-sale as at 31 December 2021 with net carrying
amount of HK$7,133,000, as the Group intended to dispose of it.
The recoverable amount of the aircraft is measured at fair value
less costs of disposal which was determined with reference to price
quotation offered by an independent potential buyer.

Frontier Services Group Limited ¢ £ iz 755 B A R A A
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Owing to the pandemic, certain customers of the Group’s logistics,
aviation and infrastructure businesses were affected, which resulted
in higher credit risks being encountered by the Group. For the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Group set aside impairment provision
of HK$30,866,000 against trade and other receivables.

In 2020, the Group made an impairment provision of HK$8,693,000
against its 47% equity interests in an associated company called
Xinyang Liliang Security Consulting Company Limited (“ISDC”) by
reference to the agreed selling price of RMB8,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$10,396,000) as stated in an equity repurchase agreement dated
8 December 2020 (the “ISDC Agreement”) entered into between
the Group and one of the existing equity holder of ISDC (the “ISDC
Buyer”). As at 31 December 2020, the Group has reclassified its
equity interests in ISDC as well as the loan to ISDC as assets held-
for-sale. During the year, the ISDC Buyer did not fulfill its obligations
and responsibilities. Further impairment provision of HK$10,396,000
was set aside by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.
The Group has engaged a lawyer in China to file a claim on those
losses suffered by the Group against the ISDC Buyer. Subsequent
to 31 December 2021, the claim against the ISDC Buyer has been
handled by the court in China but no final decision has been made
by the court.

PROSPECTS

Almost two years since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
global economy started to rebound in 2021. Unfortunately, the
rebound seems to be uneven across countries and industries
because many countries and industries are still being affected
by the resurgences of the pandemic. Although more and more
people are being vaccinated, restrictions on travelling, lockdowns
and social distancing are still in place. The carrying out of normal
business activities that we can have prior to the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic are still being restricted or constrained.
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COVID-19 related uncertainties remained throughout 2021. During
2021, the Group stayed focus on its core business development
including securing more sizeable security projects overseas, the
launching of EPC contract with a government body in Laos, the
successful transformation of our Kenya based aviation arm from
initially just concentrating on VIP chartering into air ambulance and
medevac operator as well as the growth in business volume of our
logistic arm in Shanghai, China.

Together with those synergies brought in through the acquisition of
100% interests in DeWe Security Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, and its subsidiaries (the “Acquisition”) and
the recent appointment of new Group CEQO, the Group’s commitment
and determination towards security business has become more
obvious. In the coming future, the Group will continuously build its
security profile by making good use of the Acquisition and the new
CEQO’s experience and expertise in the security industry. Winning
more sizeable projects both locally and overseas are expected
because of our solid credentials and expertise knowledge in the
security industry.

With overseas projects start to resume, the Group can take
advantage of those footprints that it has already built and can further
consolidate those resources and security force to penetrate more
into those markets that we have not stepped in.

Demands for immediate medical support will keep on growing. With
the healthcare sector being acquired through the Acquisition, the
Group can take advantage of this synergy during the COVID-19
pandemic in Hong Kong and overseas. Together with our strong
associations with United Nations and other global organisations, our
aviation segment will continue to grow and is expected to generate
a relatively stable income to the Group.

At present, most of the industries are still struggling and the outlook
is subject to considerable uncertainty. Nevertheless, the Group still
believes that there are business opportunities for us to grasp. Our
recent success in Laos will enable the Group to have security and
infrastructure footprints there. We believe that the Group will have
much more successful cases to deliver in the years to come.

At the same time, management of the Group will continue to
closely monitor the Group’s business development, implement any
necessary measures and adapt to any required changes whenever
necessary to tackle any difficulties during the COVID-19 pandemic.
With greater population size being vaccinated and effective controls
to prevent any serious outbreaks of the virus, it is expected that
those being infected can be substantially reduced. Although
setbacks and uncertainties are still surrounding us, we remain
confident that the Group can attain more vigorous growth in terms of
revenue and operating performance in the near future.
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The Group believes that with the continued support from
shareholders and financial creditors together with our firm
commitment towards our mission and vision, the new management
team, and the continued implementation of certain cost-saving
measures, the Group will become stronger and thrive in these
challenging times.

EMPLOYEES

The Group has developed its human resources policies and
procedures based on performance and merit. The Group ensures
that the pay level of its employees is competitive and employees
are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the general
framework of the Group’s salary and bonus systems. The Group
provides on-the-job training to its employees in addition to retirement
benefit schemes and medical insurance. Employees are offered
discretionary year-end bonus based on individual merit.

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible directors and employees
of the Group to recognise their contribution to the success of the
Group. The Company has not granted any share options under its
share option scheme during the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: Nil).

The Company also operates a share award scheme to recognise the
contributions by certain employees and persons to the Group and to
provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. The Company has
not granted any share under its share award scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2021. (2020: Nil).

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 December
2021 was 1,837 (2020: 1,125).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2021, the Group recorded total assets of
HK$1,173,473,000 (2020: HK$939,918,000) which were financed
by liabilities of HK$668,323,000 (2020: HK$313,234,000), non-
controlling interests of HK$120,511,000 (2020: HK$118,018,000) and
shareholders’ equity of HK$384,639,000 (2020: HK$508,666,000).
The Group’s net asset value per share (excluding non-controlling
interests) as at 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$0.16 (2020:
HK$0.22) per share.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s available cash and bank
balances were HK$267,431,000 (2020: HK$318,681,000) with a
total borrowings of HK$194,279,000 (2020: HK$18,443,000). The
Group’s total borrowings mainly represented bank loans amounting
to HK$21,439,000 (2020: HK$18,443,000) and convertible bonds
amounting to HK$172,840,000 (2020: Nil). As at 31 December 2021,
the Group’s borrowings were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), Renminibi (‘RMB”) and South Africa Rand (“ZAR”).
The repayment terms of the Group’s borrowings are ranging from 1
to 4 years (31 December 2020: 1 to 4 years). The Group, therefore,
managed to maintain a surplus net cash and bank position as at 31
December 2021 and 2020.
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As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio (ratio of the sum of RZEZ—F+-A=+—H ' EXBELX
total borrowings excluding lease liabilities to the total assets) was (B (TeiRlEaf) BEERA LX)
approximately 16.6% (2020: 2.0%). HE16.6% (ZZT_FF : 2.0%) °

In May 2018, net proceeds of HK$830,567,000 were raised through B ARRBRAZE - N\NFREAZBZBEBR

a subscription of shares under general mandate, as detailed in the ([ZBERDFEE RZZE—A\FHA  &Q
Company’s circular dated 2 May 2018 (the “Circular”). Subsequent AIRE—MEERERNDMESMSRIBFH
to the subscription and the Company’'s announcement dated 24 830,567,000 7T - RREEBEE ARG R
March 2020 in relation to the change of intended use of proceeds ECEF AT HEARERRESTEABERK
from the subscription, the intended use of net proceeds and actual HEBETRAREL A SR HEE-T-—F+=A
usage up to 31 December 2021 are set out below: = +—HASREFEZ2BTEARRERARE
PR
Intended
use of net
proceeds Actual
Intended after the use of net Unutilised
use of net change Unutilised proceeds net proceeds
proceeds set announced net proceeds upto as at
out in the on 24 March as at 31 December 31 December
Circular 2020 1 January 2021 2021 2021
R-8-%% EZ
ZRAME ZA=TER RZ%=-% i b 3 R=B=-%
fiERE MiEB&Z -f-B  tZR=t-8  fZR=t-H
FE FERETE ZRBA ZFERE ZRBA
¥ RERR fERERE  FE ERAZ fERERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt T T T
Setting up businesses in Myanmar, Laos and kg #RRRERRUER
Cambodia 130,000 130,000 64,075 114,270 15,730
Setting up businesses in Pakistan and Xinjiang, EEERARERERER
China 120,800 20,800 7720 20,800 -
Expansion of businesses in Africa and Middle Fast &M RhEEE L% 70,767 170,767 25,807 170,767 -
General working capital for the Group's existing TEEREER - REEES
business 288,000 288,000 - 288,000 -
Working capital for establishment of new offices H-E-RHERINHER LE
along Belt and Road regions 2 41,000 41,000 - 41,000 -
Repayment of the Group's indebtedness EETEEER 180,000 180,000 - 180,000 -
Total 4 830,567 830,567 97,602 814,837 15,730
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The outbreak of COVID-19 has affected and disrupted certain
business activities of the Group. The intended use of the unutilised
net proceeds are expected to be fully utilised by 30 June 2022.
The expected timeline for the intended use of the unutilised net
proceeds, which is subject to further adjustments if required, is
based on the best estimation of the Company taking into account,
among others, the prevailing and future market conditions and
business developments and needs.

On 22 October 2021, the Company completed the issuance
of convertible bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$210,000,000 to five different subscribers, which are convertible
into 210,000,000 shares of the Company at a conversion price of
HK$1.00 per share upon full conversion. Pursuant to the terms of
the convertible bonds, they bear interest at a coupon rate of 2.5%
per annum and are due for repayment on 21 October 2023. Interest
attached to the convertible bonds are payable to the bond holders
on the maturity date. The Company has the rights to extend the
maturity date of the convertible bonds for an additional one year
pursuant to the terms of the convertible bonds. Further details in
relation to the issuance of convertible bonds were set out in Note
26(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

The aggregate amount of the net proceeds received from the
convertible bonds have been applied as to HK$150,000,000 for the
settlement of the remaining consideration of the Acquisition and as
to HK$60,000,000 as the Group’s general working capital. Up to 31
December 2021, HK$150,000,000 and HK$5,000,000 were utilised
for settlement of remaining consideration of the Acquisition and for
the Group’s general working capital, respectively. The remaining
unutilised portion of the net proceeds from the convertible bonds
are expected to be utilised according to the intended use by 31
December 2022.

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies and has tight
controls over its cash management. The Group’s cash and bank
balances are held mainly in HK$, RMB, United States dollars (“US$”)
and Kenyan Shillings (“KES”). Other than the bank deposits pledged
for the Group’s bank borrowings, surplus cash is generally placed
on term deposits and investments depending on the Group’s funding
requirements.
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Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges

The Group currently operates mainly in Africa, South East Asia,
Europe and Mainland China including Hong Kong.

For operations in Africa, most of the transactions are denominated
in US$, KES and ZAR. The exchange rates of KES and ZAR against
HK$ have decreased by 2.9% and decreased by 7.4% respectively
during the year ended 31 December 2021. No financial instrument
was used for hedging purposes for the year due to the prohibitive
cost of available hedging opportunities. The Group is closely
monitoring the currency exchange risk of KES and ZAR and will
consider the use of financial instrument for hedging purposes, if
necessary.

For operations in South East Asia, majority of the transactions are
denominated in US$ while only some of the operating expenses
are denominated in the respective local currency such as Burmese
Kyat (“MMK”), Cambodian Riel (*“KHR”), Bangladeshi Taka (“BDT")
and Lao Kip (“LAK”). The Group manages its currency exchange
risk of the above currencies by closely monitoring the fluctuation in
exchange rates on MMK, KHR, BDT and LAK.

For operations in Mainland China, most of the transactions are
denominated in RMB. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange
controls promulgated by the Chinese government. No financial
instrument was used for hedging purposes for the year. The Group is
closely monitoring the currency exchange risk of RMB and is looking
for any opportunities to mitigate the currency exchange risk of RMB.

For operations in Hong Kong, most of the transactions are
denominated in HK$ and US$. The exchange rate of US$ against
HKS$ is relatively stable, and the related currency exchange risk is
considered minimal.

BE R % B b 2 B B

REBRBTENIEMN REE - BMNEPEA
i (BHRER) KEX -

BMIEM 2 EEEBME - REBORSHTIAETT
BEGASKBEIEFHRIE - BEEASKE
EHHRBTIZEERNBEE-_S=_—F+=A
=+ —BIEFESRIT®2.9% & T¥7.4% ° A
RA] Az E PR ERAAS - B AR RRAE
EXEGEAESRITANELh AEEZIER
BELESMBIEFRZELRER  TiEZER
WERFE S F T EUAESH -

AREEZKLEEBME - ABDRBTIAET
FIME - RABNEEERARES HEE N
T(l@Earx]) REEEH(RERER])
AR ((EMAEF]) REBEL ([ E8
EEDIE - AKEZETINEFRAST
HEEH  ANRER  EBREEZEXRHE
BHAERM LAY ZELRRE -

AR REEBME  RBDZHTIAA
R#5ME - AR R BRINEZ P BB B 250
FEE Bl AR R S R BUARER © AR B AN R A i
RERTANES T - AEETDERAREZ
PE SRR o 3 IE T SRR ADAUE A R L @
ZHE -

WEBZRERBME » KBRS TIAETR
EHIE - ELRBTZERBERE  EH
BHE LR REEASE -

Annual Report 2021 %

19



20

BEEENWE DN

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associates

Acquisition of 100% equity interests in DeWe Security Limited
(“DeWe Security”)

On 22 October 2021, the Group completed the Acquisition from
DeWe Security Limited (61%) and South Pacific Resources
Investment Limited (39%), both companies are beneficially owned
by Mr. Li Xiaopeng at a consideration of HK$500,000,000. The
initial consideration for the Acquisition is in the form of cash of
HK$200,000,000 (the “Initial Consideration”) and the remaining is
in the form of shares as deferred consideration of HK$300,000,000,
which is payable by three instalments at an issue price of HK$1.30
per share after the achievement of the targeted profit by the
targeted group attached to the Acquisition (the “Targeted Group”)
for the next three consecutive relevant period or year. The principal
businesses of the Targeted Group are the provision of security and
guarding services and healthcare and rescue services in Hong
Kong and overseas. The Acquisition will significantly improve the
Group’s security business in Hong Kong with a steady source of
income and cash inflow. Also, the Acquisition of the healthcare and
rescue services represented a unique opportunity for the Group to
expand its foothold in the medical and healthcare sector. The Initial
Consideration for the Acquisition was satisfied as to HK$50,000,000
by the Group’s internal resources and as to the remaining
consideration of HK$150,000,000 by the proceeds from the issuance
of convertible bonds. Further details in relation to the Acquisition
and the issuance of convertible bonds were set out in the Company'’s
announcements dated 23 September 2021 and 8 October 2021
as well as in Notes 26(b) and 34(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associates during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

Charges on Assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had certain trade receivables
of HK$27,526,000 (2020: HK$34,012,000) were pledged to banks as
securities for banking facilities.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets and Capital
Expenditure Commitments
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any concrete

future plans for material investments or capital assets and material
capital expenditure commitments.
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However, the Group always seeks for new investment opportunities
in order to broaden the revenue base, improve the Group’s
profitability and enhance shareholders’ value in long term.

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed under the heading “Charges on Assets”, the
Group does not have material contingent liability as at 31 December
2021.

Subsequent Events

Due to the fifth wave of outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong since
early 2022, the relevant precautionary and control measures have
become stringent. Management expected the resumption of its
cross-border healthcare business as planned would delay and
its business in Hong Kong might be subject to a certain extent of
disruption. This would result in deterioration in the performance of
business held by certain subsidiaries in Hong Kong, in particular,
the cross-border healthcare business of the Group. In preparing
these consolidated financial statements, the Group tested goodwill
for impairment and the recoverable amount of the relevant CGUs
exceeded its carrying amount, thus no provision for impairment was
made in relation to those subsidiaries in Hong Kong. In performing
this assessment, the Group estimated the present value of future
cash flows of the CGUs based on the conditions as at 31 December
2021. In the goodwill impairment test to be performed in 2022,
COVID-19 outbreak and its impact on the present value of estimated
future cash flows of the CGUs will be considered. Up to the date
on which these consolidated financial statements were authorised
for issue, the Group is still in the process of assessing the impacts
of the COVID-19 on the performance of the relevant CGUs and is
currently unable to estimate the quantitative impacts to the Group.
Management will closely and continuously monitor the situation and
assess the financial impact to the Group.

On 20 January 2022, Mr. Li Xiaopeng (“Mr. Li") was appointed as
an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company.
On the same date, 23,400,000 share options were granted to Mr. Li,
details of which were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 20 January 2022.

Except for as disclosed above, there are no material subsequent
events undertaken by the Company or by the Group after 31
December 2021 and up to the date of this annual report.
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INTRODUCTION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries as the “Group”) is firmly committed to the overall
standards of corporate governance and has always recognised
the importance of accountability, transparency and protection of
shareholders’ interest in general. The Company has adopted the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own corporate
governance policy, subject to amendments from time to time.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) of the Company has reviewed the Group’s
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has complied with the code provisions of the CG Code from time to
time.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

At the date of this annual report, the Board of the Company
comprises 12 directors, including 5 non-executive directors (Mr.
Chang Zhenming (Chairman), Mr. Fei Yiping, Mr. Chan Kai Kong,
Mr. Dorian Barak and Mr. Zhang Yukuan), 3 executive directors
(Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (Deputy Chairman) Mr. Luo Ning
(Deputy Chairman, Mr. Li Xiopeng (Chief Executive Officer), and 4
independent non-executive directors (Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, Mr.
Cui Liguo, Mr. Hooi Hing Lee and Dr. Chan Wing Mui, Helen).

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
separate and are exercised by different individuals. One of the
independent non-executive directors is a professional accountant,
which is in compliance with the requirement of the Listing Rules.
There are also 4 board committees under the Board, which are the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Risk Committee.

The key responsibilities of the Board include, among other things,
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, setting management
targets, regulating and reviewing internal controls, formulating the
Company’s corporate governance policy, supervising management’s
performance while the day-to-day operations and management of
the Group are delegated by the Board to management, and ensuring
adequacy of resources, qualifications, experience and training
programs and budget of the financial staff.
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In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general
meeting of the Company, one-third of the directors for the time being
or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation,
provided that every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Each of the independent non-executive directors and the non-
executive directors are appointed for a specific term and are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s
annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws
and the Listing Rules. To determine the non-executive directors’
independence, assessments are carried out upon appointment,
annually and at any other time where the circumstances warrant
reconsideration by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
received from each of the independent non-executive directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Board determined that all the independent non-
executive directors meet the requirements for independence as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Every newly appointed director will be given an induction so as to
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the Group’s
business and of his/her duties and responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements.
The directors may request the Company to provide independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his/her
duties to the Company. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.
During the year, the Company had provided to the directors regular
updates and presentations on changes and developments to the
Group’s business and to the legislative regulatory environments
in which the Group operates. All directors are also encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense. All
directors are required to provide the Company with their record of
training they received during the year ended 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management. The Board has
also reviewed and ensured compliance of the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements, the code of conducts, the CG Code and
the disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements and ensuring that the financial statements are
prepared as to give a true and fair view and on a going concern
basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
financial reporting standards.

RIBARAREZERMA  EHFZARAREBAF
Ael ER=oz2— (WESFZ2HBEWIFE=2
HE - BRBAAT PR =92 ) 2ES2AH
BRT  BRERHEEIB_FHEFERMT—

iR e

BRUIFATEETIFNTESTRIEECERRER
T YBARBARBZERA[ R EHRRER
RAZBERBFRE LWFRENRER - BT
FMTESF 2B ARANEEER BFR
RIBEZRZBEAEHNERBN T 2 EME M
EITHE - ARFERBEEBUIIFNTEZRIE
FRAEIABGHBLIMIEL 2 FERAE -
EFEeETERBUNTEEHNE LR
£ 3ABRFTHE 2B IERE -

BEHTESTHERIEN  UEFREEREL
MRANRBBZEZEREERTEE ZEAEHE
ZEBREBRBEREME - EFNEREARAR
HBYEXEBEUBTERARAZBE - &H
BHARRAE - ARBFAEFRRESEI - F
A ARAREEMRESRUASERGEEEHE
BREAEEZEMREPEERREZETT
MENE - ARR B2 REES NERE
w2 BRABEARAARE - 2REZHARAL
ARARMEERHE T _—F+-_F=+—H
LFEFE LRI Z o8k o

HE_Z-—HF+-_F=1+—HIFE BFg
BRI REBESENRREEABZEIIRIGE
HEBRE  c ERLINC SN RERBEITAEBED
LEEERT - BTFTH - CEEARATARGEE
ARG

EEMANSAEREMBERE - LERMBER
RIMBBORERE L ERPBRE LIRS EE
EEERE WFHABMA TR

Annual Report 2021 %

23



24

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXRERRSE

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (Chairman),
Mr. Cui Liguo and Mr. Hooi Hing Lee. Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry is a
chartered accountant in England and Wales and is a fellow member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the
Code and are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee
is required, among other things, to oversee the relationship with
the independent auditor, to review the Group’s interim and annual
consolidated financial statements, to monitor compliance with
statutory and listing requirements, to ensure adequacy of resources,
qualifications, experience and training programs and budget of the
financial staff, and to engage independent legal or other advisers if
necessary to perform investigations, and to review the scope, extent
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control system, and to review the Group’s financial and accounting
policies.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee,
among other matters, reviewed reports from and met with the
independent auditor regarding the audit on annual consolidated
financial statements and discussed the risk management and
internal control of the Group. The Audit Committee also reviewed
the scope, extent and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. Further information is disclosed in the
section titled “RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL".

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 4 directors, namely
Cui Liguo (Chairman), Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, Mr. Yap Fat
Suan, Henry, and Mr. Hooi Hing Lee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code and are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Under its terms
of reference, the Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying
potential directors and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors of the Company. Potential
new directors are selected on the basis of their qualifications, skills
and experience which the Nomination Committee considers will
make a positive contribution to the performance of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee is also responsible for the review of the
Board’s diversity policy, considering factors including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
of board members, and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the Board’s diversity policy, and
monitor the progress on achieving the measurable objectives.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 4 directors,
namely Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (Chairman), Mr. Ko Chun Shun,
Johnson, Cui Liguo and Mr. Hooi Hing Lee. The Remuneration
Committee meets for the determination of the remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management of the Group. In
addition, the Remuneration Committee also meets as and when
required to consider remuneration related matters such as making
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management.

Under its term of reference, the Remuneration Committee assists
the Board in achieving its objective of attracting, retaining and
motivating people of the highest caliber and experience needed to
shape and execute strategies across the Group’s operations. The
Committee also assists the Group in the administration of the fair
and transparent procedure for setting policies on the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group. The written terms
of reference are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
determined with reference to the CG Code. Under the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee, the responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee include, inter alia, assisting the Company
in the administration of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies, making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management, and ensuring that no director
or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the work performed by
the Remuneration Committee includes, inter alia, the review of the
Group’s remuneration policy for its executive directors and senior
management and their levels of remuneration.
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Risk Committee

The Risk Committee currently comprises 3 directors, namely Mr. Yap
Fat Suan, Henry, Mr. Cui Liguo and Mr. Hooi Hing Lee.

Under the terms of reference, the Risk Committee is required,
among other things, to assist and advise the Board in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities with regard to the Group’s risk appetite,
risk principles and other risk-related issues including corporate
actions and sanction risks management, etc., to consider major
investigation findings on risk management matters as delegated by
the Board or on its own initiative and management response to these
findings, to approve the Group’s risk policies and risk tolerances, to
oversee and advise the Board on the current risk exposures of the
Group and advise on the Group’s future risk strategy, to consider
emerging risks relating to the Group’s business and strategies to
ensure that appropriate arrangements are in place to control and
mitigate the risks effectively, to review risk reports and breaches of
risk tolerances and policies, to review and assess the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk control/mitigation tools including, but not limited
to, the enterprise risk management programme, the sanctions risks
management systems, and the Group’s contingency plans, and to
take charge of the internal control measures and to ensure that they
are in place in order to minimise the Group’s exposure to sanction
risks and ensure that the Group has not been involved in any
incidents of non-compliance of sanction laws and regulations.

Discussions of risks are further detailed on pages 69 to 71 under
section headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties”.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company sets out below the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria contained in the Nomination Policy adopted by
the Board in March 2019.

Nomination Procedures and Process

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate.
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The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of
the Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidates
from members of the Board if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The Nomination
Committee may also put forward candidates who are not nominated
by members of the Board.

For filling a casual vacancy or appointing an additional
member to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval.

For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general
meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

A circular will be sent to the shareholders of the Company
to provide them with the name, brief biography, proposed
remuneration, (where an independent non-executive Director
is to be nominated) independency and other information of the
proposing candidate in accordance with the requirements of
the applicable laws, rules and regulations including those of
the Listing Rules.

A shareholder can serve a written notice to the Company
for the attention of the Company Secretary of his or her
intention to propose a certain person for election as a Director.
This written notice, together with (i) the information of the
candidate as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules and such other information as may be
considered relevant to his or her proposed election; and (ii)
the written consent by that person to the publication of his or
her personal data provided pursuant to (i) immediately above,
by the Company in its corporation communication documents
in compliance with the Listing Rules or as may be required by
the Stock Exchange at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong of the Company for a period of no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the meeting and ending no
later than 7 days prior to the date of the general meeting.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.
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Criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee

Business experience: The candidate should have significant
experience from a senior role in an area of business, public
affairs or academia, relevant to the Company. Awareness of
the Group’s focusing industry would be an advantage but not
a requirement in all cases.

Public board experience: The candidate should have relevant
expertise and experience earned as a Board member of a
reputable listed company or from a senior position in his or her
industry, public affairs or academia.

Diversity: The candidate should contribute to the Board
being a diverse body, with diversity reflecting gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, qualifications, skills and length of service. Given
the current composition of the Board, a female candidate
would be an advantage but not a requirement.

Standing: The candidate should be of the highest ethical
character and have a strong reputation and standing, both
personally and professionally, in his or her fields.

Time commitment: Each Board member must have sufficient
time available for the proper performance of his or her duties.
Directors should be sufficiently free of other commitments to
be able to devote the time needed to prepare for meetings
and participate in induction, training, appraisal and other
Board associated activities.

Independence: For the candidate who is proposed as an
independent non-executive director, he or she must satisfy all
the independence requirements as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. He or she must always be aware of threats to his
or her independency and avoid any conflict of interest with the
Company. He or she must be able to represent and act in the
best interest of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. To ensure that the existing policy continues to be
implemented smoothly in practice, the Company shall undertake
regular reviews and reassess this policy having regard to the
regulatory requirements, good corporate governance practice and
the expectations of the Shareholders and other stakeholders of the
Company. The Company will propose amendments to the Board for
approval.

Having reviewed the Diversity Policy (as defined below), the
nomination policy and the Board’s composition, the Nomination
Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in the Diversity
Policy had been met.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All board appointments are based on merit and contribution, and
candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination
Committee reviews the Diversity Policy on a regular basis and
discusses any revisions that may be required, and recommends any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT MEETINGS

The attendance records of each director at the various meetings of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
as below:

EEEZTLEE

EFEERMEEFEZLEBR( SRl
BER])  ZBEBIEBREESZ T2t -
ARRZREEFEREZTLE @2 BZEH
i BRERETRARMER  Fik - XERHFES
= BELR KB MRERBEE - LER
EExgRBEZTl  MEEESZERBEVENR
BR BREBGAEEEEA  UREEZESE
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HE - AwmedREEAER]  YAEESEH
EAZEFER] - WHEFESERRIE -
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BE-_ZT-—F+-_A=+—HItEE KEZ
HEARRARS NG HZDEETNT

Attended/Eligible to Attend

BiHE/AERLRE
Annual Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Risk
general Board committee committee committee committee
meeting meetings meetings meetings meetings meeting
&Y g EnZEE HMzEE REZEE RERZEE
BEAE a3 a3 e a3 g3
Number of meetings SRENE 1 9 3 3 4 1
Non-Executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Chang Zhenming BRELE 1 8/9 nfa TiEA nfa TiEA nfa TiEA nla TiEfA
Mr. Fei Yiping BlaTi4 1 8/9 nfa TEA nfa TEA nfa TER nfa TER
Mr. Chan Kai Kong BEREE (R -FE-—F
(appointed on 28 February 2021) ZH=1/|FEEF) 1 8/8 nfa MEHR nfa MEMR nfa MER nfa MR
Mr. Dorian Barak Dorian Barak 74 (£
(appointed on 19 April 2021) ZE--FNHTARES
) 1 414 nfa TiEA nfa TEA nfa TEA nfa TEA
Mr. Zhang Yukuan REERAE(R-F-—F
(appointed on 21 October 2021) +H-+—HEZIE) nja TiEA nja TEA nfa TiEA nfa TEA nla TEA nla TiEfA
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. Ko Chun Shun Johnson BREIELE 1 99 nfa N E 33 414 nja TiEA
Mr. Luo Ning FERA 1 9/9 nfa MER nfa MER nfa TER nfa MER
Dr. Hua Dongyi ER-BL (R -F--% nla TR
(resigned on 10 March 2021) ZH+AEF) 202 nfa ~EA nfa NEA nfa TEA nfa MEA
Mr. Erik D.Prince Erik D. Prince B4 (X=F=— na TR
(resigned on 13 April 2021) FRFT=AFR) 114 nfa T M 0/t 0/2 nfa T
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BU##775%
Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry Eupns 1 99 303 303 4/4 1
Mr. Cui Liguo ERFERE 1 99 3/3 3/3 4/4 il
Mr. Hooi Hing Lee STEAEE 1 9/9 2/2 n n n
Dr. Chan Wing Mui, Helen Rkt (R-F-—F
(appointed on 21 October 2021) +H=+—BEZH) nfa TEfA nfa TEfA nja TEfA nfa TEfA nja TEfA nfa TEfA
Dr. Harold O. Demuren Harold 0. Demuren £ (K=
(retired on 15 May 2021) E-—FRF1AAEF) nfa TEfA 5/6 il 02 03 nfa TR
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry by the
Company, all directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’
securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 December

2021.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, all directors have participated in

continuous professional development as shown below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Luo Ning Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chang Zhenming Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Fei Yiping Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Chan Kai Kong Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Dorian Barak Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance

Mr. Zhang Yukuan Reading relevant materials in relation

to listing rules update and corporate

governance
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry Reading relevant materials in relation
to listing rules update and corporate
governance

Reading relevant materials in relation
to listing rules update and corporate
governance

Reading relevant materials in relation
to listing rules update and corporate
governance

Reading relevant materials in relation
to listing rules update and corporate
governance

Mr. Cui Liguo

Mr. Hooi Hing Lee

Dr. Chan Wing Mui, Helen

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers as its statutory
auditor for the year ended 31 December 2021. The statement by the
independent auditor of the Company and the Group regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company
and the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 84 to 94 of this annual report.

The remuneration in respect of services provided by
PricewaterhouseCoopers to the Group in 2021 is summarised as
follows:

¢

BYKAGTEE

EHE BIEA L TRBIS A
REEAZABER

EFIE A BIEA L TRRIS A
REEAZABER

SRR BIMEA L TRRIR A
ROEEAZABER

B ki £ BIEA L TR RIS A
ROEEEZABER

BE A€

HE-_Z-—F+-RA=+—RHIFE  FxR2H
RIBERRCE SN EIEA AEEE BN
RRRRANEE 2 BIZBENR K FH AR A
RASEEMEHRRZ FRETERAFERRNFRE
84 BE 94 B 2 B BN E

R-BZ—% ERERBCEGTENEBARA
AEEEHRE 2 MESBAnT

HK$000

T

Audit services BN 3,037
Non-audit services EEZRY

Fee for acquisition completion review services WHEEETXNBEZRE 2 ER 1,163

4,200

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company does not engage an external service provider as
its Company Secretary. Mr. Chan Kam Kwan, Jason, being the
Company Secretary of the Company, has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2021.

AAME
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibilities

The Board has the overall responsibility for setting forth proper risk
management culture and risk appetite for the Group, evaluating and
determining the level of risk that the Group should take and monitor
regularly, and demonstrating openness, integrity and accountability
to stakeholders in the decision-making process. The Board, through
the Audit Committee and the Risk Committee, has also devoted to
maintain sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems in order to safeguard shareholders’ interest and protect the
Company’s assets, to achieve business objectives and to ensure
compliance with relevant legislation and regulations. The Board is
also committed to oversee and review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s management continues to allocate resources for the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Group established the risk
management and internal control systems with aims to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatements or losses caused by judgment in
decision making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

Internal Audit Function

During the year, the Company has engaged an external consultant
to facilitate the Group in maintaining an internal audit function. With
reference to the scope and duties and responsibilities as stipulated
in the Internal Audit Manual of the Group, the external consultant
has carried out the review under the reporting protocol of the Group.
The external consultant has assisted the Audit Committee and
the Risk Committee in carrying out an independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company, and has assisted management
of the Company in reporting the status of its review to the Audit
Committee on an annual basis.

Risk Management and Control Framework

Risk Management Policy has been established and reviewed
annually to set forth the risk management framework and to maintain
a consistent basis for the identification, analysis, evaluation,
treatment, monitoring and reporting of risks at all levels across the
Group to support the achievement of the Group’s overall strategic
objectives.
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The Group has adopted the enterprise risk management framework,
which involves identifying risks and opportunities that are relevant
to the Group’s objectives and organisational structure, evaluating
those using appropriate qualitative and quantitative techniques,
and formulating risk management plans that are consistent with the
Group’s risk appetite. The Group has chosen both top-down and
bottom-up approaches in relation to risk management and internal
control. It involves collating and appraising bottom-up input from the
management of business segments, and senior management of the
Group, with refinements and adjustments through top-down input
from the Board in an iterative manner.

The Group has also carried out an annual risk assessment for the
year to identify respective strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and compliance risks of its major business segments. Based
on the result of the risk assessment and following a risk-based audit
approach, the Company has devised a three-year audit plan that
prioritised the significance of the risks identified into annual audit
project with a view to assisting the Board, the Audit Committee and
the Risk Committee in assessing the efficiency of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Annual Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

During the year, the Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed
and evaluated the risk assessment report presented by the
management, reviewed and discussed the internal control review
report according to the approved three-year audit plan submitted by
the external consultant. Based on the reviews, the Board considered
that (i) the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
were effective and adequate; and (ii) the Group had complied
satisfactorily with the requirements of the CG Code in respect of risk
management and internal control systems for the year.

Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling and Dissemination
of Inside Information

The Company maintains a framework for handling and dissemination
of inside information for compliance with “Part XIVA — Disclosure
of Inside Information” of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
The framework set forth the procedures and internal controls for
the purpose of maintaining inside information in a private and
confidential manner until such information is disclosed properly. The
procedures and internal controls include identification, collection,
maintenance and reporting of inside information.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Board recognises the importance of effective communication
with the shareholders and investors. The Company communicates
with the shareholders and investors through various channels
including investors’ conferences, TV interviews, press releases, and
publication of interim and annual reports, announcements, circulars
and other corporate communications and publications available on
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Company.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the shareholders.
The Company encourages the participation of the shareholders
through annual general meetings and other general meetings where
the shareholders meet and exchange views with the Board, and to
exercise their right to vote at meetings. The Company shall arrange
notices of meetings and circulars containing details on proposed
resolutions to be sent to the shareholders. At general meetings,
separate resolutions are proposed on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors.

The Board always ensures that shareholders’ and investors’ views
are heard and understood, and welcomes their questions and
concerns relating to the Group’s management and governance. The
Company’s website provides email address and telephone number
to enable the shareholders to make any enquiries and concerns to
the Board. Shareholders may also at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board by addressing to the Chief Executive
Officer by post or by email. The contact details are set out in the
Corporate Information section of this annual report.

Subject to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the
“Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company, shareholders
holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the
Company have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company, to request a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within
three months after the deposit of such requisition. Any number of
shareholders representing not less than 5% of the total voting rights
of the Company on the date of the requisition or not less than 100
shareholders of the Company are entitled to put forward a proposal
for consideration at a general meeting of the Company. Shareholders
should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in Section
79 of the Act for putting forward such proposal at a general meeting.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

There were no material changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Frontier Services Group Limited ¢ £ iz 755 B A R A A

REERERERKRRER

ERERANERRIREELETERNEBZEE
1o ARBEBERBREEBRRNIREEEITE
B BRREEeR  ERKRT  FEHBERE
BBERZMBR DR RARR 2 BTN S
HmERFR  AF  BRANREMERBRN
T4

ARRZBERASRHESTEHRRERKBBL
e ARABEBEREBHFERRBFRAE R
HBERAS HELREFEEELIAE
S YREETEERERE BU2ERFS
%o ARRIBLRFARR T EHARZRERH
BZREBEIBE - RERAE LI ERE
AEFH(BRERERNER) BILR2RER -

EEeREe ERBIEBERRREEZE
R TEORERAEE 2 EERE AR HRAE
NEEER - ARA 2 AU R E FE it
Lt EE  IMERRAZEESRETAEANR
BT EE - RRITAEBRATHRAR T X
EFHMERAESSRRARE 2EAREEE
B BEFBERRAFRIARER] —& -

REBRE-NN-FREDE(RRZE]DFE74
BRARREIZMAZEIZMANESSGK - &5
FAETLR10% RN AREBRBA 2 BERA #
BRARRRESTEX A RIS HHEMESN
EREEGARBRRENAEG - NREFHER
TEANTAXRHR S  MERIRANERA
BERIE 2 =EARET - RIBHER 2 BHMA
PNORAR R R 5% 2 EMIRR AR
D100 %8 2 AR B RR AR ZEARR AR
BIBCRA S LEH - RRMAKRBRARDEE 79
fRATEN R MEFEBRRAE LR & EE -

BEXH 2T

A2 BRI EEART -

=



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

HERERBRE

7B 15

ABOUT THE REPORT

This is the sixth Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report (the “ESG Report” or “Report”) of Frontier Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”). The Report summarises the ESG performance of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”).

The Report covers the key operations of the Group, including
logistics and aviation. The Report is compiled in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) under
Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

While promoting the growth of our business, the board of directors
(the “Board”) of the Company recognises the importance of
integrating the concept of sustainability into the business operations
and create long-term value for all stakeholders.

In order to incorporating sustainable development into the business
operations, the Group has established a top-down ESG management
framework with well-defined duties and responsibilities which
assists the Board to oversee and monitor the ESG performance of
the Group. The Board has delegated ESG-related responsibilities
to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is responsible for
evaluating and determining our ESG related risks, and ensuring
that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place. Furthermore, the Board and the
Audit Committee have delegated the day-to-day management
responsibility of ESG-related issues to the senior management.
In accordance with the direction from the Board and the Audit
Committee, the senior management carries out ESG-related
work, including conducting material assessment, developing and
implementing ESG management policies, preparing ESG report, etc.

The ESG-related goals and targets are set by the senior management
and are reviewed and adjusted by the Audit Committee. Meetings
between the Audit Committee and the senior management are
hosted regularly to understand and discuss the progress made
towards achieving the goals and targets and reviewing the overall
ESG performance of the Group. The Audit Committee will report the
overall ESG performance of the Group to the Board annually.

Looking forward, with the assistance of the Audit Committee and
the senior management, the Board is dedicated to strengthen the
ESG management system to further enhance the Group’s ESG
performance, thereby creating sustainable value for stakeholders
while pursuing business development.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group has applied the principles of “Materiality”, “Quantitative”,
“Balance”and “Consistency” in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide in the preparation of the ESG Report. Details of application of
these reporting principles are illustrated below:

Materiality: The Group has engaged stakeholders in the process
of identifying, prioritising and determining important ESG issues
that reflect the Group’s significant impacts on the economy,
environment and society. More details can be found in the
section “"STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT” and “MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT”.

Quantitative: The Group has disclosed information on the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and calculation tools used, and source
of conversion factors used when presenting the environmental and
social key performance indicators (“KPls”).

Balance: The Group has prepared this Report in a truthful and
accurate manner and strives to present a fair disclosures in all
aspects of the Group’s ESG performance.

Consistency: To facilitate the comparison of ESG performance
between years, the Group has adopted consistent reporting and
calculation methodologies, and stated any changes in the relevant
sections.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

The Group analyses and monitors the regulatory frameworks
applicable to the Group and prepares and updates internal policies,
including Environmental Policy, whenever necessary. The Board
oversees the Group’s management and internal controls on an
ongoing basis. The Group keeps abreast of the latest regulatory
developments and provide relevant trainings for relevant personnel.
In addition to preventive measures, the Group also ensures there
are monitoring and measures to enable regulatory compliance. With
these mechanisms, the Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with relevant local laws and regulations related to areas
such as environmental protection, employment and labour practices
and operating practices during the year.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

The Group are principally engaged in the provision aviation,
logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure related services, and
the provision of online financial market information. In recent years,
although shift has been made to security segment, the Group’s
aviation and logistic business remains the main contributor of the
Group’s revenue. Therefore, unless otherwise stated, this Report
focuses on the operations of Transit Freight Forwarding (Pty) Ltd
(“TFF”) a South African based warehouse and logistics company
and Phoenix Aviation Limited (“PAL”), a Kenyan aviation company,
those two principal subsidiaries of the aviation and logistic business
segment collectively contributed a substantial portion of the Group’s
revenue. The reporting boundaries of this Report is consistent
with the same report for the year ended 31 December 2020. In
the future, the Group will continue to strengthen the information
collection system in order to expand the scope and enhance the
comprehensiveness of disclosures on ESG performance.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that creating long-term value for stakeholders
is important to sustain its business success. We value honest, open
and regular dialogue with our stakeholders. As a company with
services spanning across several continents, the Group strives to
engage and gain trust and support from its various stakeholders.
These include employees, customers, suppliers, investors,
governmental authorities and the wider community as a whole. In
this regard, the management actively communicate with these key
internal and external stakeholders to understand their concerns
and expectations. The Group engages its stakeholders on a regular
basis, through various channels, such as conferences, interviews
and surveys, with a view to understanding their expectation in
ESG matters. The engagement of the stakeholders facilitates the
materiality assessment process, ensuring our focus areas align with
the Group’s sustainable strategies and stakeholder expectations.
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Stakeholder
Groups

Engagement Method

Internal key stakeholders

Employee

Employee Satisfaction
Survey

Employee Performance
Appraisal

Training Workshops
Meetings and Discussions

External key stakeholders

Customers

Suppliers

Investors

Governmental
Authorities

Community

Daily Operations
Meetings and Conference
Customer Feedback
Forms

Customer Hotline

Daily Operations
Supplier Inspection
Annual Evaluation
Financial announcements
HKEX Filings

Investor Calls and
Briefings

Annual General Meetings

Compliance Reporting
Consultation Papers
Rules and Regulations
Charitable Donation
Volunteer Activities

Key ESG Concerns

Remuneration and Benefit
Health and Safety
Rights of Employee

Quality of Services
Corporate Reputation
Protection of Data Privacy

Corporate Reputation

Long-term Relationship

Financial Performance
Sustainable Development

Compliance
Corporate Governance

Social Contribution
Environmental Protection
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to identify and consider what ESG-related issues may
be material to the Group, the Group has performed materiality
assessment with stakeholders. The following is the process of
materiality assessment:

Step 1: Identification of ESG-related issues

The issues were identified based on the ESG subject areas under
the ESG Reporting Guide, the business characteristics of the Group
and the ESG reports of the industry peers.

Step 2: Prioritising the ESG-related issues

The senior management took into account the materiality to
stakeholders and materiality to business in evaluating and
prioritising the issues. The feedback collected from the stakeholder
engagement process was fully considered for ranking the issues.

Step 3: Determination of material ESG-related issues

The top five issues were identified as material issues of the Group
and was discussed and confirmed by the Board.

During the Year, as a result of the materiality assessment, we
have prioritised climate change, occupational health and safety,
employee training and development, service quality and safety,
and community investment as key ESG issues. The Group will pay
more attention to the above areas and focus on strengthening the
discussion of material issues, in order to respond to the concerns
of stakeholders. Key initiatives and activities are summarised in the
following sections.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
Emission

The Group is committed to operating in a sustainable manner
through mitigating emissions, improving energy efficiency and
reducing its impacts on the environment.

Our leadership has been committed to sustainability, recognising
it is a strategic imperative for our business and embedding it in
our corporate values. Our primary aim is to manage sustainability
risks through appropriate policies, standards, and systems. It
also enables us to identify and pursue potential sustainability
opportunities.
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The Group recognises that pollution prevention and resource
conservation are key to combating climate change, and thus
effectively integrates these concepts into its business decision
making.

The Group strictly abides by local rules and regulations on
environmental protection. For example, the Group’s aviation business
in Kenya follows the policies approved by National Environment
Management Authority, a local government agency responsible
for implementing environmental policy, logistics business in South
Africa adopts its internal policy for compliance. The applicable rules
and regulation include the National Environmental Management Act:
Air Quality Act 39, Environmental Management and Co-ordination
(Air Quality) Regulations, 2014, National Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Reporting Regulations, Climate Change Act (2016), etc

The emissions of the Group were primarily generated from the
vehicle use for operations and the combustion of fuels in its business
operations. Enhancing fuel efficiency is a key focus of the Group’s
environmental protection efforts and technology plays a key part in
driving the Group’s sustainable development. In the Group’s ground
logistics business, the operational teams arrange the transportation
so as to maximise the utilisation of vehicles and save the fuel
consumption. Moreover, drag-reducing devices were installed on
trucks to improve fuel efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions. During the Year, the total GHG emissions was higher
than that of in 2020 slightly. It was primarily due to the increase in
number of flying hours for flights used for medical evacuation or
air ambulance services in Kenya under the COVID-19 pandemic
and the recovery from operation of ground logistics business in
South Africa during the post pandemic era. Nonetheless, the Group
successfully maintained the same level of emissions intensity.

The Group is committed to reduce the emissions intensity level
through enhancing fuel efficiency. The Group are going to acquire
eco-friendly vehicles to minimise the usage of energy resource.
Furthermore, the Group’s logistic business has initiated a project
to implement a transport management system which will assist the
operational teams further on route and vehicle optimistation, as well
as enhancing energy efficiency.
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Responsible waste management practices are adopted in the
Group’s processes. For instance, within the Group’s aviation
business, where hazardous wastes such as used oils and medical
waste are generated from, waste collection system has been
implemented. Used oil from aircraft servicing and maintenance is
siphoned into drums for storage and collected by qualified vendors.
Medical waste is discarded into labelled, leakproof and puncture
resistant containers before the waste is collected by disposal agent
approved by local authority. Furthermore, the Group encourages
proper waste segregation and storage in designated receptacles
on its premises to facilitate material recovery and biological
treatment. The Group places emphasis on implementation of
environmental protection measure, to ensure effective and efficient
waste segregation, disposal and management of both hazardous
or non-hazardous wastes. Our employees share responsibilities
for waste management in our business operations with reference
to the established environmental protection measure and waste
management approaches. The Group strives to prevent any
environmental pollution events from waste through proper collection,
storage and disposal of waste. Meanwhile, both hazardous and
non-hazardous waste level are closely monitored by the Group to
observe opportunities for waste reduction in the future.

Use of Resources

The Group takes proactive measures to minimise the environmental
impact arising from its operations. Previously, the Group’s aviation
business relocated its full power engine runs to a designated area
located on the southern end of Wilson Airport in Kenya, far from the
neighbouring community and sensitive natural habitats. This helps
to reduce the impact of air and noise pollution arising from aircraft
test runs and vehicle movements. When replacing fleet vehicles,
the Group takes fuel efficiency into account in its decision making
process. Fleet vehicles are constantly monitored for excessive fuel
usage. Repair and maintenance on the fleet vehicles and forklifts
are performed by approved manufacturer technicians to ensure
its mechanical parts are functioned so as to prevent unnecessary
energy consumption or emissions. The vehicles are installed with
telematics monitoring driver behavior. If anything becomes apparent
the drivers will be made aware and remedial action taken. Where
necessary, drivers are trained to drive the vehicles in the most fuel
efficient ways by observing practices with regard to tyre pressures,
harsh braking and acceleration, as well as driver behaviour.

FEFEXEBBRETRREETZERZYERT
Moo Pl EAKBESBEKHNERRER
EEEVIMEEGTE CEHREEDRE
R o B TR ARG N 4 v 1R B0 R O T AR A0
FREXAEERHEEHKEERE - BEIHRA
TFRAPIRR ~ BIRIFRSF - WhE ERE
ZEBREEMIPIOEZ IR ERBIKER
o tHh  REESENEE D BERY RFKR
RETIESMNEERRA - TEMEEWREE
YEHE - ARBEERMRFBREREE - AR
BYNOE RENEEAELEZBEEMNEAN
NEBE - BESBRERREEIENEERS
% AAFRERBLETENERZEE - A%
B ERRENE FRMEERERY ML
EEEERDMEKRZRFEISRENF - Al K
SEEMIASTRETERYKT  SHKRE
WMOBERY G -

BERER

REBBERIRREEEE - RORDEEBEIR
BERMWEE  c REBOMEEB S BEBER
Ih =R A B U = 5 TE 58 Wilson # 15 7 I B9 38 TE
@i REEEET R RBUEARAEEM - R
BRR DR HATR R BEML B ELE MR KL
FIERAMTE c EEMBERRER  ARBEER
REBREPEERMBRE - REETHERS
BOREEEEBR 21BN o AN AR
T B B EBOTE R X BEEITHEE RIRE
R E MM HEIELE R - WBH AR EREER
SHIESHE - S EHOTERIEEERERS
NIRRT R - NBERAMEE - HesMA]
B FRBBRIEE - TERER - AIMERMHE
I ERETERRRAE - SREERINRA
R RIHIT B ER - ARARRE N ES T
o

Annual Report 2021 %

41



42

RE HERERRS

During the year, the total energy consumption of the Group, which
were primarily arisen from direct energy use for the vehicles and
flights, increased by approximately 20% as compared with that of
in 2020. The increase in energy consumption was mainly due to the
growing demand of ground logistics and aviation services. In the
meantime, electricity used by the Group in 2021 was dramatically
lower than that in 2020. The 43% drop was principally attributed to
the closing down of several idling warehouses.

All employees are responsible and accountable for promoting and
implementing environmentally responsible operations.

The Group has worked to raise staff awareness of environmental
management by implementing sustainable practices at workplace.
We promote green office and operation environment to minimise
the adverse environmental impacts of the Group. The employees of
the Group have attempted to reduce the consumption of electricity,
paper and water resources. For example, to avoid energy wastage,
to turn off idle electrical appliances, etc.. The Group also used more
energy efficient LED lighting and air conditioners when carrying
out renovations of the offices and warehouses. To lower paper
consumption, double-sided printing, recycling of used paper and
use of electronic documentation are strongly encouraged. Dedicated
bins have been set up at the Group’s offices to facilitate waste
separation and recycling. Waste paper from the offices is delivered
to an approved paper recycler.

Despite of the logistics and aviation business are not highly intensive
in usage of water, the Group strives to conserve the precious water
resources. For instance, a high pressure washer system is used
for washing the trucks in the Group’s logistic business in South
Africa, which minimises the water consumption. Majority of the water
consumption depends on customer demands, hence, we target to
maintain the water consumption intensity level. To control the water
consumption, the Group regularly maintains and repairs the water
facilities to ensure that leaking pipes are regularly replaced or
repaired and installs auto lock taps to avoid over usage. The Group
obtains water from the municipal supplies and therefore, there is no
issues in sourcing water for its operations.

Due to the nature of aviation and logistics business, the operations
of the Group involve very little use of packaging material only.
Nevertheless, the Group has maintained strict control over the use of
packaging and prevent excess consumption. Any used packaging
materials will be reused or recycled if possible.
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Environment and Natural Resources

The Group strives to drive the environmental performance of its
logistics solutions to another level through continuous monitoring
and improvement. Regular reviews are carried out on a timely
basis to evaluate and explore alternative eco-friendly measures
and practices. Going forward, it is part of the Group’s strategy to
increase strategic investment in energy-efficient technologies, such
as sourcing for greener fuels and aircraft as appropriate.

Climate Change

The Group understands that climate change is a global issue that
affects everyone around the world. We are aware of the impacts of
climate change on the sustainable development of our business
operations. The Group carried out an analysis to understand the
potential risk to its business in the course of climate change. More
frequent extreme weather conditions may lead to disruption to
transportation and thus our ground logistics and aviation services.
This would in turn poses adverse effects on schedule of flights and
loads, a knock-on effect on services performance and customer
satisfaction. The increase in vulnerability of extreme weather also
brings threat to the safety of the drivers, crews and passengers.

In response to the climate change, the Group has closely monitor
the weather conditions prior to and throughout the provision of
services. Furthermore, emergency response training are offered to
the frontline workers, including the drivers and pilots, in order to
provide guidance to our employees in response to extreme weather
arose, which allows us to limit the potential damages.

The Group will continue to monitor the potential risks of climate
change and its impacts on the Group’s operations, and establish
and implement preventive and emergency measures accordingly.
Moreover, the Group will continue its efforts to control energy
consumption and carbon emissions.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Employment

The Group believes that people are the foundation of its business
growth. The Group’s human resources policies and procedures
cover key aspects such as compensation, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, welfare and other benefits.

It is paramount for the Group to attract qualified talent both internally
and externally to support business ambitions.
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The Group’s remuneration mechanism is performance-based and
competitive. Eligible employees are entitled to other benefits in
addition to basic salary, such as medical insurance and retirement
funds. The remuneration packages are regularly reviewed to keep
up with the market.

The Group is committed to providing employees with an inclusive
workplace that embraces and promotes diversity and equal
opportunity. The Group has zero tolerance of harassment and
discrimination in any form. Employees are hired and selected
based on their merits regardless of their race, colour, age, religious
belief, gender and national origin. Specifically, the Group’s aviation
business adopted a “Fair and Just Culture Policy” to ensure that
all personnel are treated fairly. The Group also strives to establish
harmonious labour relationships. In the Group’s ground logistics
business where the majority of Group employees are employed,
grievance procedures are enforced to make sure that the concerns
of the employees are heard and addressed in an equitable and
fair manner. The Group’s logistics business in South Africa is a
Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE) compliant
for years, of which it is a racially inclusive initiative imposed by the
government of South Africa, and such compliant demonstrates that
the Group’s has put its firm commitments towards racial equity.

In the event of misconducts that warrant dismissal, the Group strictly
observes the disciplinary code to ensure necessary steps and
procedures are followed. The code sets out our principles for acting
responsibly in the course of achieving our commercial success. The
hearings are chaired by independent labour consultants who would
also provide recommendations to the disciplinary actions made, and
employees have the right to appeal the outcome of the disciplinary
hearing.

In the logistics business in South Africa, employees’ rights on
remuneration, working hours, leave entitlement, etc. are strictly
complied with the Labour Relation Act and Basic Condition of
Employment Act. During the year, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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Health and Safety

Occupational health and safety (“OHS”) is the Group’s top priority
for its business operations under the strict national rules and
regulations in logistics and aviation business, such as Occupational
Health and Safety Act in South Africa and Kenya. All our operations
must be carried out in a manner that safeguards the health and
safety of all employees, customers, contractors and the wider
community. The Group adopts proper procedures at the workplace
to identify, mitigate and monitor health and safety risks. Hazard
assessments and safety monitoring are also carried out frequently,
and results are followed up in a timely manner to drive continuous
improvement. Proper personal protective equipment and first aid
training are provided to employees. The Group protects the safety
of its people and assets by undertaking rigorous fire prevention
measures, organising safety awareness and accident investigation
workshops, as well as providing firefighting training. Fire and
evacuation drills, fire hydrant flow and pressure tests are conducted
periodically. Risk administration and compliance officers were hired
to proactively identify risks and implement preventive measures for
the Group.

The Group’s aviation business is certified by the Department of
Occupational Safety and Health Services under the Ministry of
Health of the Republic of Kenya in recognition of its achievements
in upholding workplace safety. Our continued success is inherently
linked with providing a safe working environment for all Group
employees. To succeed in this, we have developed a corporate
safety culture and adopted a risk-driven approach in identifying
and minimising the impact of hazards on our operations. Within
the Group’s logistics business, toolbox talks covering topics such
as safety, hazards, health and equipment operations are held
with frontline workers on a daily basis. A third-party consultant
was engaged to carry out regular thermal tests on the distribution
boards to prevent fire hazards in the physical properties. In addition
to the Group’s aviation business, personal protective equipment
are provided to pilots and medical staff for protection against
coronavirus while they are performing the aeromedical transfers
missions. An isolation chambers maybe used depending on the
infectious risk, especially when highly infectious patients such as
COVID-19 patients was taken to the hospital. Extensive training
that was supported, directed and advised by senior EU virologist
specialist or leaded by Aeromedical Specialist Medical staff was
offered to our employees in aviation business to equip them with
professional knowledge and skill during the COVID-19.
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The Group is committed to protecting the health and safety of
all individuals affected by its activities, including its employees,
contractors and the public. The Group ensures that every individual
employee works in a safe and healthy environment.

The outbreak of COVID-19 since early 2020 has brought severe
threat to the health and safety of all individuals. As a logistics
and aviation services provider, the nature of our works inevitably
means that our employees are exposed to high infection risk.
Hence, regular testing for COVID-19 was arranged to employees.
For those employees were tested with high infection risk, they
should screen out and should be quarantined in the early stage.
In addition, COVID-19 policy is established with the objective to
provide guidelines about prevention of the inflection. The Group
has been implementing various preventative measures in workplace
to safeguard the health and safety of the employees. These
measures include: employees must wear masks properly at work,
arranging body temperature screening at the main entrance, and
regular cleaning and disinfection of the workplace to maintain good
environmental hygiene, etc. The Group will continuous monitor the
development of the epidemic and strengthen the precautionary
measures if necessary.

Employees are encouraged and supported to maintain a healthy
work-life balance. In addition to abiding by all standard aviation
safety regulations, the Group’s flight operations have enhanced
policies around pre-flight rest and duty hours to further minimise
OHS-related risks caused by fatigue.

The Group will review the safety of the workplace on an ongoing
basis.

Development and Training

The Group believes that talent development is integral to sustaining
its competitive advantage and organic growth. Training programmes
are set up at business level to support daily job functions. Subsidies
of training or education are provided to the staff for their contribution
to the Group after self-development. For instance, the Group
places high priority to enhance skills of its ground logistics staff,
particularly on operating warehouse equipment. Furthermore, highly
customised training courses are prepared for pilots and engineers
within the Group’s aviation business, in particular the training in
safety management system and aviation security to enhance their
awareness of safety and security. In order to facilitate employees’
professional growth and career progression, the Group also provides
support and assistance for staff to attend external training courses
that are relevant to their areas of expertise.
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A skills development committee has been established within the
Group’s logistics business to plan and organise development and
training for employees. In addition, management personnel of the
Group’s logistic arm attended training on safety and security to
prepare them for the challenges of managing safety and security
during their works.

The Group’s remuneration mechanism is performance based and
competitive. In addition, the Group provides other benefits to
employees including various training programmes.

To stay competitive, we invest in different ways to acquire the best
talent in the market by reviewing and streamlining our recruitment
process to make us more efficient in attracting and hiring new talent,
developing different customised selection and assessment tools to
help us acquire the most suitable talent in the market.

The Group will continue to evaluate the training needs of its
employees and to offer the employees with appropriate and suitable
training according to their job position and nature. The Group will
continue to intensify and promote staff training programs by offering
comprehensive training opportunity, it could help to reserve talent
for corporate development.

Labour Standards

The Group strives to adhere to applicable local and international
labour standards, including Basic Condition of Employment Act in
logistics business in South Africa and Employment Act in aviation
business in Kenya, and strictly prohibits the use of child or forced
labour in its operations. We have developed systematic approval
and selection measures to prevent ourselves from illegally hiring
child labour and ensure that the employment is comply with
relevant laws and regulations. New employees should present their
legitimate proof of age to meet the requirements of local minimum
age and to prevent employment of child labour. The Group will
not retain employees’ passport, national identity cards and travel
documents as a condition of continued employment. Subject to the
conditions set for the in employment contract, employees are free to
terminate their employment relationship with the Group. The Group
has a set of grievance procedures to provide staff with a channel to
confidentially escalate complaints and concerns, including report on
child and forced labour. The Group’s suppliers and contractors are
expected to attain the same standard in their labour practices.

FEBZYREBCOKRUNEEREZES - BilE
BT EN AL BR R o AN - KEEWR
MAZERABZMTZ2REZARBI £K
EREHTHERE R RLZREEE M E
1o

AEEZH BRI RRI[HE  WAERFS -

AN AEBERRERFEEMRESN - BESES
TS o
RIRTBHEFE D - BAEBTRRERENS L&

BEZAS  EPEEFELBEERM2BER
Fo ERPANREERZ ARSI MEFEAS -

BEEFIZHERTAETIA - UBRMARTHS
FESEEEZAT -

AEEHFEFGHRE ZHIFE - WREER
URMERERBRBEE KES ZEI - A%E
REBRHEET RIS - TEHMRRRES
THIEE - WREPHR/EEERBREASL -

TR

NEBBNEFEEA 2T RBEERETER (8
FEEIEYREB T EACHEERGEEHE)
(Basic Condition of Employment Act) X 5 JE 32
Mz 2 7% 5 E HCE %A ) (Employment Act)) -

BENEBHFERETLRREST - ZMFIEE
R BRI R EEER - UL RAET -

WHERE BREFSEEERERER - TABE
BARMEEER  FERESTRTAEHHEE
TEFRESR  BISEAZET - A5ETERE
EEZER BB RIKTEHIEAFERE .
G - RIBEMES QORI 2G4 EEFBBHK

IFEAEE 2 EEHER - REBERE —EHKFE
Fr A REITRHEURE T NERILF RIBLEE
BRE BERBRETIRRES I TEEAR &

) 2 48 75 TR 5 2 5 T AR 46 1 B4R
% o

Annual Report 2021 %

m

\M

47



48

RE HERERRS

The Group’s logistics business in South Africa has been a member
of Supplier Ethical Data Exchange (SEDEX) since 2018. SEDEX
Members Ethical Trade Audits (SMETA) were conducted on an
ongoing basis to assess the business’s performance around labour
rights, health and safety, the environment and business ethics. In
addition, the labour practices of logistics business in South Africa
are continuously monitored by the National Bargaining Council
for the Road Freight and Logistics Industry and the South African
Department of Employment & Labour.

The Group has no tolerance attitude towards child and forced
labour. In case of any violation of laws and regulations related to
labour standards, the Group will immediate investigate the causes of
the problem and examined ways to prevent similar occurrence in the
future. The Group is committed to protect the rights and interests of
employees and maintain trustful relationship with employees.

OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group values relationships with its suppliers. The development
of the Group’s business depends on the support of suppliers
and partners. In particular the Group’s logistics business has
strategically partner with multiple transport suppliers in South Africa
region to jointly maintain the quality of services and operational
capacity. Therefore, the Group attaches importance to quality of
products and services and continuity of supply.

To maintain our service quality and standard as well as the business
integrity, the Group has developed a scrupulous and rigorous
process for supplier screening and monitoring. Before corporation
with the new suppliers, the Group must conducts supplier
assessment which based on several criteria, including products and/
or services quality, products and/or services safety, as well as their
environmental and social practices. Business licenses, qualification
certificates, production safety permits and other management
system certifications will be collected during the supplier
selection process to ensure that they comply with relevant social
and environmental laws and regulations. In the Group’s aviation
business, all aeronautical parts suppliers shall be recognised by
the Civil Aviation Airworthiness Authority of the country of domicile
and audited by the Head of Quality to meet its procurement
requirement. To encourage the suppliers to contribute to sustainable
development, the Group will give priority to suppliers who supply
products or services while promoting sustainable development.
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The Group will closely monitor the performance of its suppliers to
ensure it is consistent with its commitment regularly and adhere to
the quality and standard of the Group with the aid of annual supplier
assessment. The cooperation with suppliers will terminate if the
environmental and social standards of suppliers is not in line with
the Group’s policy.

The Group is aware of the importance in managing environmental
and social risks of our supplier chain. The Group works closely
with its suppliers and service providers to support and optimise its
complete logistic solutions. The Group has embedded environmental
and social consideration in the procurement process and supplier
communication. The Group aspires to exert a positive influence over
its suppliers to promote the awareness of sustainability and manage
risks within its supply chain, including environmental, social and
governance best practices. The Group will continue to monitor its
supply chain regarding the environmental and social standards.

Product Responsibility

Since its establishment, the Group has focused on helping its
customers to operate more securely and efficiently in frontier
markets. The Group emphasises service quality and reliability to
differentiate itself in the market and help its clients focus on meeting
their project milestones on time and within budget.

The Group’s aviation business in Kenya implemented a safety,
quality and security management system as guided by International
Civil Aviation Organisation and Kenya Civil Aviation Authority, with
a wide scope of provision of aviation and logistics services, such
as worldwide charter flights and medical air ambulance charter. In
addition, the Group has been certified and approved by European
Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) as a Third Country Operator
(TCO) in recognition of the safety performance of the Group’s
aviation business. During the Year, the Group’s aviation business
became a European Aero-Medical Institute accredited provider,
which stands for high quality, safety and excellence in aero-medical
transportation. To maintain the reliability of its aviation services,
the Group conducts forecasts on capacity, demand patterns and
customer requirements to address potential bottlenecks caused
by hangar space, associated logistics and custom procedures.
The Group’s aviation business maintains a 24-hour operations
control center to plan, execute and monitor every flights. Before the
dispatch of aircraft, the flight operation department and maintenance
team are responsible to perform safety and quality checks to
ensure the flight meets the international standard and industry
best practice. With the finely engineered fleet of aircraft equipped
with the latest technology and experienced and knowledgeable
operations and maintenance teams, the Group delivers quality and
consistent air travel solution to the clients.
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The Group is committed to providing high-quality services to
customers. The Group’s logistics business prides itself on high
services levels by timely delivery with low damage rate. In addition,
we are particularly concerned with the safety in handling, storage
and transport of food products. In the Group’s ground logistics
business in South Africa, trucks with refrigerator unit are specifically
used for transfer of refrigerated or freezer products and temperature
are frequently checked during the transportation to ensure the
products are delivered and arrived at its destination at the correct
temperature and in good condition. Perishable Products Export
Control Board (PPECB) carried out annual inspection to confirm
the food safety system of our logistics business in compliance with
food hygiene and safety standards in South Africa. To maintain
quality and consistent logistical solutions to the clients, each load is
diligently planned, coordinated and closely monitored by experience
operator team.

The Group is an integrated security, logistics, insurance and
infrastructure services’ provider, product recall procedures is not
applicable to the Group’s business.

Furthermore, a complaint handling mechanism is in place to
address customers’ concerns. Complaints are properly documented
upon receipt and subsequently followed up in a timely and efficient
manner. Once complaints are verified, compensation is provided
to customers in accordance with established procedures and with
reference to prior cases. During the Year, the Group did not receive
any substantive product or service related complaints.

The Group respects intellectual property rights of all stakeholders.
The Group’s standard employment contracts contain provision on
intellectual property rights and confidentiality. In addition. The Group
uses authorised and copyrighted products only and the behavior of
downloading or installing any forged or copied programs, software
or materials is strictly prohibited to protect intellectual property
rights’ owners.

The Group values data privacy. Confidentiality agreement
have been signed by employees upon employment to restrict
confidentiality behavior. Collected personal data is only accessible
by authorised personnel and is handled in a confidential manner.
To prevent leakage of personal data, computer system is regularly
updated and is installed with firewall and antivirus software to
avoid possible hackers’ activities. The Group complies with the
applicable data protection laws and regulations. For instance, the
Group’s logistics business in South Africa strictly complies with the
requirements of the Protection of Personal Information Act. Personal
information collected from stakeholders, including employees,
customers, suppliers, etc., is protected against unlawful collection,
retention, dissemination and use of personal information under the
requirements of the act.
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Anti-corruption

The Group operates across multiple countries and regions,
especially in world’s emerging markets. However, corruption is
often found in less developed countries and fast-growing markets.
Therefore, the Group attaches great importance to uphold ethical
corporate culture in the workplace.

The Group maintains a high standard of anti-corruption measures
and have zero-tolerance for any form of bribery, corruption or fraud.
Upon employment, all employees are introduced to the specific
requirements related to the corruption policies in the company in
order to mitigate the relevant risks to the business. Despite the
Group did not arrange anti-corruption training for its directors and
staff during the Year, the Group and all members of the Group
has paid great attention to uphold high standards of integrity and
business ethics, strictly follow the guidelines as stipulated in the
corruption policies and abide the laws and regulations concerning
business ethics. For example, the Group’s aviation business in
Kenya strictly complies with the requirements of the UK Anti-Bribery
and Corruption Act and the Kenya Anti-Corruption and Economic
Crimes Act, and makes an effort to keep up to any changes in
regulations. During the Year, the Group and its employees were
not involved in any legal cases of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, or money
laundering.

In addition, a whistle-blowing procedure is established with the
objective to provide a confidential channel for employees to report
on suspected irregularities. This policy also aims to encourage our
people to come forward and report suspected wrongdoing and to
provide necessary guidance and assurance to anyone who reports
suspected wrongdoing. Employees and other relevant parties can
raise their concerns to the Audit Committee by email. Once a report
is made, investigations will then conduct to verify the complaints
and for appropriate follow-up action. Every reported case will be
handled consistently, promptly and confidentially according to
established procedures. In the past, the Group’s logistics business
in South Africa has worked with Whistle Blowers, an independent
company which provides ethics hotline services, for employees to
safely report any whistle-blowing matters, and no single comment or
claim was lodged.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to supporting development in the
communities where it operates by working closely with a number
of local and overseas charities and organisations. In nurturing the
corporate culture to practice social welfare and participation, we
aim to embrace our corporate social responsibilities as part of the
Group'’s strategic development. In recent years, we have engaged in
various community activities, including but not limited to:

o participating in epidemic preventive and control works such
as rendering air ambulance services and delivery of medical
equipment and consumables across countries;

o donating rapid antigen tests (RAT) kits, masks and other anti-
epidemic supplies to various non-profit organisations namely
the New People’s Party, The Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises
Association, Greater Bay Area Youth Development Association
Rotary Club and Yan Chai Hospital Mrs. Tsang Wang
Neighbourhood Elderly Centre to support the communities in
fighting the epidemic;

o supporting and participating in educational fieldtrips to
promote children’s awareness in conserving wildlife under
Carolina for Kibera’s Child Outreach Programme in Nairobi,
Kenya;

o cooperating with Support Teacher Empowerment Trust by
providing training to teachers and equipping them with
necessary knowledge and skills to support and educate the
disadvantaged youths;

o working with Phakamani Trust, a local non-profit organisation
aiming to empower rural young women, to combat poverty and
unemployment in South Africa;

o transporting donated food to various charitable organisations
such as churches and children homes free of charge;

o maintaining close contacts with local schools and organising
visits to the Group’s premises to provide an introduction on
aviation to the students. This helps to broaden their horizon
and equip them for their future career with more knowledge on
different industries; and

o supporting relief works for incidents by natural disasters, such
as flooding in Somalia and forest fires in Tanzania.
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The Group also encourages all its employees to actively participate
in volunteer works. When selecting charitable organisations to
support, the Group would evaluate their visions and backgrounds.
Charities with unclear financial position and operations are not
considered so as to ensure community investment goes to the needy.
Striving to promote social integration and improve the wellbeing of
members in the communities where it operates, the Group targets
to support underprivileged groups, especially children and youth.
During the Year, the Group donated approximately HK$74,000 to the
community. The Group also supported child and youth centre in its
caring works for abandoned and unwanted babies. The Group will
continue to make contribution to the communities in order to fulfil its
social responsibility.
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ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE REFAREREE

INDICATORS

The table below shows the environmental KPIs of the key operations
of the Group in two services namely (a) logistics business in South

TREIAEER (a) EIFMARET K (b) BER
MERBEMARBH 2 T 22 EZRRMRE

54

Africa and (b) aviation business in Kenya. IR ©
Environmental KPIs Unit 2021 2020
REBEBENER B —B-—F —EEF
Nitrogen Oxides emissions (NO,) tonne 22.34 20.72
—ERBENE T8
Sulphur Oxides emissions (SO,) tonne 0.03 0.03
—&EtmBEE M8
Particulate matter emissions (PM) tonne 1.61 1.49
BRIEMETENE M8
Total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions tonne CO,e 8,436.40 7,391.99
RERBENNE =Y {78713 (LT
Scope 1 - Direct emissions and removals tonne CO,e 8,015.97 6,629.71
HE1 — BEFERSORSR =N {78712 LU T
Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions tonne CO,e 420.43 762.28
#HE2 — BLIRMEE N =N {47873 (LT
Total GHG emissions intensity by revenue tonne CO,e 0.01 0.01
R RERBRENERE =N {47873 (LT
Total hazardous waste produced tonne 2.00 1.83
FEEZEEEEYRS T8
Total non-hazardous waste produced tonne 239.84 213.19
FEAZBESEZYRS 7
Total energy consumption kWh 33,816,110.56 28,424,100.13
BEREFES TR
Total direct energy consumption kWh 33,255,080.49 27,433,719.13
HEEREES TR
Diesel oil kWh 19,973,868.99 18,269,760.54
s TRE
Gasoline/Petrol kWh 15,254.21 8,636.65
i TH#H
Kerosene kWh 13,265,957.29 9,165,321.94
B3 FRE
Total direct energy consumption intensity by revenue kWh/HKD’000 revenue 43.98 45.34
N2 B RERET R TRE W THET
Total indirect energy consumption kWh 561,030.07 980,381.00
Mg REES TR EF
Purchased electricity kWh 561,030.07 980,381.00
ERES FRLEF
Total indirect energy consumption intensity by kWh/HKD’000 revenue
revenue 0.74 1.62
R aEst 2 B REREERE TRE W TET
Water consumption m?3 82,213.00 59,572.00
FKE 377K
Water consumption intensity by revenue m3/HKD’000 revenue 0.1 0.10
N st 2 RERE SHK W FET
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SOCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS HERRENIEE

The table below shows the social KPIs of the key operations of the TREHNEEER (a) EIEMRER X (b) BELR
Group in two services namely (a) logistics business in South Africa MEEBEMBRBF 2 EELE M SHRE
and (b) aviation business in Kenya. IR ©

Social KPIs Unit 2021 2020
HERRENER B —E-—f ZERTF
Total workforce person 239 252
BEBH %

Total workforce by gender

RIERNS D 2 BREBRH

Female person 53 57
gk %
Male person 186 195
Bt %

Total workforce by employment type

RERBRE N ZEBAH

Full-time person 237 232
£ %
Non full-time person 2 20
IR &

Total workforce by age group
RFRARNE D 2 EBEH

21-35 person 68 75
21 E 355 &
36-50 person 135 143
36 .ZE 50 5% %
Over 50 person 36 34
50 BRIA & %

Total workforce by geographical region

minEE D 2 BB AK

South Africa person 151 156
EES &
Kenya person 88 96
BIEE #
Employee turnover rate % 1 22
EE AL E

Employee turnover rate by gender
RIERED 2 ERERALLE

Female % 5 15
7
Male % 13 24
5l
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Social KPIs Unit 2021 2020
HEREAEMER B —B--F i

Employee turnover rate age group
RERENE D ZEEMALLE

21-35 % 13 36
21 mE 35

36-50 % 12 13
36 mZE 507

Over 50 % 8 15
50 5% bA £

Employee turnover rate by geographical region

BB D 2 REMKLE

South Africa % 16 30
EZES
Kenya % 2 2
BRE:
Number of work-related fatalities person 0 1
(2019: 0)
THEAERASE T A = (20194 : 0)
Work-related fatalities rate % 0 0.31
(2019: 0)
TR T X (20194 : 0)
Number of lost days due to work injuries day 59 N/A*
TIEMBUER A =]
Percentage of employees trained % 6 18

XiIEEBES L
Percentage of employees trained by gender

RUEMNB N ZXIEEB DL

Female % 13 2
M
Male % 87 98*
S

Trained percentage by employee category

RETHEREN Z2XIIEEBSLL

Senior management % 7 N/A#
BREEAB
Middle management % 20 N/A#
FEEEAB
Frontline staff % 73 N/A#
Ri#RE T
Average training hours completed per employee hour 0.58 1.41
BEREETATINZ FRE /N
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Social KPIs Unit 2021 2020
HEHEAENER B —B--F e

Average training hours completed per employee by

gender

ZMRE Dz BEEETKRIIZ FHARH
Female hours 0.48 0.04
i N
Male hours 0.60 1.77
S N

Average training hours by employee category
RETERED 22 FIIRE

Senior management % 0.30 N/A#
SRERABR TEmA*
Middle management % 1.00 N/A#
FEEEAR T
Frontline staff % 0.53 N/A#
A ET T

Total number of suppliers supplier 532 N/A#

HEREY ] B

Number of suppliers by geographical region

RitEE D2 HEFHAE
South Africa supplier 440 N/A#
A 3F HIER B
Kenya supplier 70 N/A*
=Kt HIER B
Zimbabwe supplier 7 N/A#
EEME ] TEmA*
United States supplier 6 N/A*
ESE e TEmA*
Other Regions supplier 9 N/A*
E b= HIER TEmA*

. Restated based on new data and calculation. * R BIE R EIAED -

# KPIs in 2020 are not available as they are new disclosure requirement # HRBEBZE - ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HILFERL

with effect from the year ended 31 December 2021. ERZHWBEER MR ST ENLERE

BRI -
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chang Zhenming, aged 65, was appointed as a non-executive
director and the Chairman of the Company on 6 December 2018.
Mr. Chang holds a master degree in business administration and
has a broad range of experience in banking, finance and securities
business. Mr. Chang was formerly the chairman and an executive
director of CITIC Limited (stock code: 267), the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). CITIC Limited is an indirect
substantial shareholder of the Company holding approximately
25.91% issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report. Mr. Chang was also the chairman of CITIC Group
Corporation and CITIC Corporation Limited, and was formerly the
vice chairman and president of China Construction Bank Corporation
(stock code: 939 (H share); 601939 (A share)), the non-executive
director and deputy chairman of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited
(stock code: 293), the non-executive director and the chairman of
the board of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (stock code:
998 (H share); 601998 (A share)), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and/or the Shanghai Stock
Exchange. He was also formerly a non-executive director of China
CITIC Bank International Limited and the chairman of CITIC Hong
Kong (Holdings) Limited.
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Mr. Fei Yiping, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive director
on 24 March 2020. Mr. Fei is a director and the chief financial
officer of CITIC Pacific Limited (“CITIC Pacific”, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CITIC Limited). He is also the deputy general manager
of financial control department of CITIC Limited, a director and the
chief financial officer of CITIC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a vice
chairman and president of CITIC Pacific China Holdings Limited,
a director and general manager of Rainbow Wisdom Investments
Limited (a subsidiary of CITIC Group Corporation (“CITIC Group”)),
a non-executive director of CITIC Telecom International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1883), the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, a non-executive director of Dah
Chong Hong Holdings Limited, the shares of which were withdrawn
from listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a director
of Companhia de Telecomunicagdes de Macau, S.A.R.L. He is also
a director of certain member companies of CITIC Pacific involved
in special steel, property and energy and a director of certain
member companies of CITIC Limited involved in iron ore mining,
property and its interests in McDonald’s Mainland China and Hong
Kong businesses (including, inter alia, Grand Foods Holdings
Limited), and also the chairman of the audit, compliance and risk
management committees of Grand Foods Holdings Limited. Mr. Fei
is a graduate from Beijing Science and Technology University and
received a Master in Business Administration from the University of
Edinburgh in the United Kingdom. He is a FCPA of CPA Australia
and has over 23 years experience in accounting and financial
management. He has been with CITIC Group since 1991. Between
2001 and 2008, he first acted as treasurer and director of CitiSteel
USA, Inc. and then acted as a vice president of CITIC USA Holdings,
Inc. and chief representative of CITIC Group in New York. When he
returned to China in 2008, he became a deputy director general of
the finance department of CITIC Group.

Mr. Chan Kai Kong, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive
director on 28 February 2021. Mr. Chan is the Chief Financial
Officer and a Senior Managing Director of CITIC Capital Holdings
Limited, a global alternative investment management and advisory
company. He heads up various businesses in Principal Investments
and is also a partner of Trustar Capital, the private equity business
of CITIC Capital. Prior to joining the firm, he was an investment
professional at the Government of Singapore Investment Corporation
and the International Finance Corporation responsible for both
direct investments and fund investments in Asia. He previously
worked for Deloitte and had corporate finance experience with both
listed companies and merchant bank. Mr. Chan received a M.Sc.
in Finance from the London Business School and a BBA from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong.

BRFEE 585 RZE-_ZTEF=A=-+NW
BEZERIFNTES - BXRERTRERZEEAR
ARI([HRERE] ATREFPERNHERRRZ
2EMBRAR) CEEREFUBE - B AR
EAEROERARZVBER I BLE -
FE(BEEEE)ERAAZESRUBHBE -
FERE(FE)REBRAFZAEERRL
#HUEREERQAR (FRAAEEEERAA
(THhEEE]) ZHBAR) 2 EEFRBLIE - F
EEBREASEEGR A A (HRMD A ER
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SEAERAR(EROERBEEBRAERZ £
L) ZHERTESRPIEAEARARIZE
F o RMAPEREE TP RIFH - BihEKie
BFHEEKEARZES  FEPERHERAA
ETHRPRERE  EHNEBEBQARLREREE
BHRBENMEESEREEXNE AR (B (K
B 4E) Grand Foods Holdings Limited) 2 &
% LA K Grand Foods Holdings Limited 2 85T
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ERREEARREEAERERAG ZEFEH
BERSAEEREE TEAEEELENS
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Mr. Dorian Barak, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive
director on 19 April 2021. Mr. Barak is a veteran private equity
investor and fund manager specializing in emerging markets.
He serves on the boards of companies active in the technology
and natural resources sectors in China, the Middle East, Europe
and Africa. Over the past two decades, Mr. Barak has filled key
investment and executive positions in the US, Israel and Europe.
He was an independent non-executive director and an executive
director of Yunfeng Financial Group Limited (formerly known as
Reorient Group Limited) (stock code: 376) and KuangChi Science
Limited (stock code: 439), respectively, both of the companies’
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), Head of Global Strategy and M&A at Hapoalim,
Israel’s leading financial group; an M&A Attorney with the Skadden
Arps firm in New York; and a Consultant with the Boston Consulting
Group (BCG) in Chicago; and is an independent non-executive
director of Zwipe AS (ZWIPE.ST). Mr. Barak was awarded a Juris
Doctor by Yale University, a master degree from Oxford University,
and a BA from UCLA.

Mr. Zhang Yukuan, aged 57, was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company on 21 October 2021. Mr. Zhang used
to work as assistant salesman of China International Economic
Consulting Corporation, and staff, senior staff, and section director
staff of the Comprehensive Planning Department of CITIC Limited
(a substantial shareholder of the Company). From April 2004, he
served as senior project manager of the Management Division Il of
the Strategy and Planning Department. In January 2016, he became
senior project manager of the Corporate Operations Management
Division | under the Department of Strategic Development. From
April 2016, Mr. Zhang was promoted as Senior Executive of the
Corporate Operations Management Division | under the Department
of Strategic Development. In January 2019, he became Senior
Executive of the 4th Management Division under the Department
of Strategic Development. Mr. Zhang holds a bachelor’s degree in
economics from Jilin University, China.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson, aged 70, has been an executive
director of the Company since 1998 and a Deputy Chairman of
the Company since January 2014. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company and is a committee member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Ko is an executive director of BC Technology Group
Limited (stock code: 863), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ko has extensive experience in direct
investment, merger and acquisition, TMT (Technology, Media and
Telecom) and financial service.

Mr. Luo Ning, aged 63, has been an executive director of the
Company since October 2006 and a Deputy Chairman of the Board
of the Company since January 2014. Mr. Luo was a director of
Baiyin Nonferrous Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 601212.ss), the
shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in PRC.
Mr. Luo was also an executive director and a non-executive director
of CITIC Telecom International Holdings Limited (“CITIC Telecom”)
(stock code: 01883) from 26 April 2014 to 27 May 2019 and Lajin
Entertainment Network Group Limited (“Lajin”) (stock code: 8172)
from 23 November 2015 to 21 June 2019, respectively. Both the
shares of CITIC Telecom and Lajin are listed on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Luo was the chairman of CITIC Guoan
Information Industry Company Limited (stock code: 000839.sz),
the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). Mr. Luo has extensive
experience in telecommunication business and holds a Bachelor
Degree in Communication Speciality from The Wuhan People’s
Liberation Army Institute of Communication Command in the PRC.

Mr. Li Xiaopeng, aged 53, was appointed as an executive director
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 20 January 2022.
Mr. Li has 30 years of security, management, legal and investment
related experience, which covers many industries including security,
culture, investment and trade, and is the founder of DeWe Security
Service Group. He has worked in the Beijing Public Security Bureau,
Ministry of Public Security, Organising Committee for the Olympic
Games, Liaison Office of the Central People’'s Government in
Hong Kong and Macau. Mr. Li graduated from Department of Law,
Chinese People’s Public Security University and the Central Party
School of the CPC with a bachelor degree in law and a postgraduate
degree in administrative management respectively, and has taken
senior management courses at the University of lllinois at Urbana-
Champaign.

HITES
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry, aged 76, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since 2004. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company, and a committee member of the Nomination
Committee and the Risk Committee of the Company. Mr. Yap holds
a Master Degree in Business Administration from the University of
Strathclyde, Glasgow, in the United Kingdom. He is a fellow member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He has extensive experience in finance and accounting. He retired
as the managing director of Johnson Matthey Hong Kong Limited
in June 2007 and prior to that appointment he was the general
manager of Sun Hung Kai Development (China) Limited. He is also
an independent non-executive director of Concord New Energy
Group Limited (stock code: 182), which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, and Brockman Mining Limited, which is
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 159)
and the Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: BCK).

Mr. Cui Liguo, aged 52, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since June 2020. He is also
the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company, and a
member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the risk committee of the Company. Mr. Cui is currently a founding
partner of Guantao Law Firm and the chairman of its management
committee. Mr. Cui has over 25 years of experience in legal sector,
and holds a position of independent non-executive director in
several companies, such as, CNNC International Limited (stock
code: 2302) and APT Satellite Holdings Limited (stock code: 1045),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, China Coal Xinji Energy Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 601918) and Joincare Pharmaceutical Group Industry
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600380), the shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange in China, Essence Securities Co., Ltd.
and Beijing Life Insurance Co., Ltd.. Mr. Cui was an independent
non-executive director of China National Software & Service Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 600536) until 11 May 2020, the shares of which
are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in China. He is also a
member of the Finance & Securities Committee of All China Lawyers
Association. Mr. Cui graduated from the China University of Political
Science and Law with a bachelor degree in laws. He also holds a
master degree in laws from the same university.
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Mr. Hooi Hing Lee, aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 28 October 2020. Mr. Hooi is also a
member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Hooi has
over 30 years of experience in the finance industry. Mr. Hooi was
employed by National Australia Bank Limited in a variety of roles in
Australia and Hong Kong from January 1988 to June 2006 with his
last position as the head of corporate banking, North Asia. He also
served as a chief operating officer in Cushman & Wakefield Capital
Asia Limited from July 2006 to October 2008. For the period between
5 March 2008 to 6 October 2008, Mr. Hooi was a responsible officer
for regulated activities Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) of Cushman & Wakefield Capital
Asia (HK) Limited. He also served as a Country Chief Risk Officer of
Standard Chartered Bank (Taiwan) Limited from August 2010 to June
2013 respectively. In the year of 2013, Mr. Hooi founded a private
equity company, pH Capital Limited, where he currently acts as the
director.

Dr. Chan Wing Mui Helen, aged 63, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 21 October 2021. Dr. Chan
had worked in the Immigration Department of the Hong Kong
Government for 28 years and retired as an Assistant Director.
Immigration and IT experience aside, Dr. Chan has vast knowledge
in various fields acquired through a wide range of academic
endeavours. Graduating from the University of Hong Kong with a
Bachelor degree in Pure Science, Dr. Chan subsequently obtained
a Post-graduate Diploma in Management Studies and four Master
degrees in Information Systems Management, E-commerce,
Buddhism and Chinese Culture from various universities in Hong
Kong. She was conferred a doctoral degree in Chinese Criminal
Law in the Renmin University at Beijing. Dr. Chan received the
Immigration Distinguished Service Medal and the Chief Executive’s
Commendation for Public Service in 2008 and 2009 respectively for
her outstanding performances in the Immigration Department and
for public services. Dr. Chan is now serving as the Honorary Chief
Executive Officer of the Promoting Happiness Index Foundation,
the director of Salon Media Lab and Education Research Institute
in the Greater Bay Area and was also a member of the Community
Investment and Inclusion Fund committee of the Labour and Welfare
Bureau and a visiting lecturer in Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Dr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of
Hailiang International Holdings Ltd (stock code: 2336), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Hu Ping, aged 58, was appointed as the general manager of the
Middle East and North Africa region of the Group in June 2019. In
March 2021, he was appointed as the Acting Chief Executive Officer
of the Company and concurrently as the chairman of Kenya Phoenix
Aviation Limited, a principal subsidiary of the Group located in
Kenya. Dr. Hu has been re-designated from Acting Chief Executive
Officer to Chief Operating Officer of the Company since January
2022. From 1983 to 2013, he worked in the Institute of Geophysical
and Geochemical Exploration, Chinese Academy of Geological
Sciences, Ministry of Land and Resources, and successively served
as the director of the market development department, the general
manager of Hong Kong Engineering Geophysical Prospecting
Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the institute, and the deputy director of
the research institute. In April 2013, he served as Deputy General
Manager of CITIC Construction Co., Ltd., General Manager of
Energy and Mining Business Department and General Manager of
Africa Region. Since July 2019, he has been employed as a member
of the Advisory Committee of Overseas Geological Work Experts
of China Geological Survey. Dr. Hu graduated from the Department
of Geophysical Exploration of Chengdu Institute of Geology with a
bachelor’'s degree in 1983, and obtained a doctorate degree in Earth
Exploration and Information Technology (Engineering) from China
University of Geosciences (Beijing) in June 2005. Dr. Hu has nearly
40 years of experience in geophysical exploration of energy and
mineral resources, international engineering market development
and implementation management of large-scale engineering
projects.

Mr. Leung King Yu, Wilson, aged 49, has been the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company since July 2018, and he also acts as a
director for various subsidiaries in the Group. Mr. Leung has more
than 26 years of auditing, financial, accounting and advisory related
experience of which he spent 10 years working in Mainland China.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked at the audit and assurance
department of Ernst & Young, an international accounting firm, for
more than 17 years. He retired from the partnership at Ernst & Young
in September 2012. Afterwards, Mr. Leung worked as the Chief
Financial Officer for two other main board listed companies. His
experience covers a wide variety of industries including automotive,
telecommunication, property development, oil transportation,
logistic and manufacturing. He had extensive experience in merger
and acquisitions, initial public offerings, fund raising exercises
and group restructuring. Mr. Leung graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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Mr. Uldarico Ard Peregrino Jr., aged 52, is the Chief Security Officer
of the Group and a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
He has advised the corporate and national security level programs
in the industry since 1994, and has managed complex, global
integrated security and logistics programs in various capacities
over the past 20 years. Mr. Peregrino began his career as a United
States Marine. After completing his seven-plus years of service,
Mr. Peregrino entered the International Corporate Security industry,
quickly progressing to managing large VIP security operations
and developing critical training for close protection teams. He also
served as a local law enforcement officer where he was awarded
two “Valor Awards”. Among other certifications, Mr. Peregrino holds
one of the most respected Aviation Security Certification, the AVSEC
PMC certified by ICAO. He has published papers on many security
topics and has participated in the international arena as a featured
speaker for the corporate security industry and law enforcement.

Mr. Liu Zhigang, aged 49, has been the Head of the Southern
Africa Region and the Country Manager of the Democratic Republic
of the Congo (the “DRC”) for the Company since July 2018. Mr.
Liu is responsible for overseeing the Company’s business and
operations in Kenya, South Sudan, Uganda, Tanzania, Mozambique
and the DRC. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Liu served as
vice president and director of Weihai International Economic and
Technical Cooperation Co., Ltd. and the chairman of Zhengwei
Company in the DRC. Mr. Liu has extensive working experience
in handling overseas projects including project bidding, project
management and localized management and he is familiar with the
financing and business model for projects along the Belt and Road
Initiative. Mr. Liu has been working for more than ten years in the
DRC. He is familiar with the business environment in Africa and has
a good reputation among local political and business strategists.
Mr. Liu graduated from Qingdao University with a Bachelor of
Science degree and had studied at Central University of Finance
and Economics. Mr. Liu has also equipped with extensive financial
background.
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Mr. Su Bin, aged 42, is the Head of Group Insurance division,
focusing on the risk management and insurance solutions business
of the Group. Mr. Su has more than 16 years working experience
in risk management and insurance industry, offering tailor-made
insurance programs and integrated risk solutions for clients like
overseas projects and multinational enterprises. Before joining the
Group, he worked in line of Construction & Energy of JLT Insurance
Broker Co., which was a Jardine Matheson associate company. His
clients included many types like power generation, infrastructure, oil
and gas, renewable energy etc. in high-risk areas such as Southeast
Asia, Central Asia, Africa and South America. Mr. Su worked as
Assistant General Manager of the Captive Insurance Department of
Generali China, and Assistant General Manager of P&C Technical
Department of Jiangtai Insurance Broker Co. once before. He holds
Master Degree of Insurance (Central University of Finance and
Economics), Bachelor Degree of Economics (Beijing Commercial
College), ANZIIF (Fellow) CIP, and is a registered broker of China
Insurance Regulatory Commission.

Mr. Lv Chaohai, aged 58, used to be the Head of Northwest
Region. He was later appointed as the general manger of Frontier
Logistics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd, responsible to oversee the overall
logistics business. Prior to working with the Company, Mr. Lv was
vice president of Xinjiang Production and Construction Corporations
and the chairman of its international company, having extensive
overseas working experience in project operation, equipment
procurement as well as localisation, security, training, education and
employment of Chinese and foreign labor. Mr. Lv is a graduate of
Xi'an Jiaotong University and a certificate holder of senior engineer
and construction engineer.
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Ms. Cui Jiming, aged 56, is the Global Human Resources Director
of the Group, overseeing and operating human resources matters
across all of the offices and subsidiaries in Asia, Middle East and
Africa, creating and implementing human resource strategy of the
Group to transform the strategic objectives into the common goals
and actions of all employees. Previously, Ms. Cui served as Deputy
General Manager of CITIC construction Technology Center (Planning
& Design Institution), responsible for administration management,
human resources management, security management, social
responsibility management of Angola KK Housing Project, RED
Social Housing Project, Agricultural Development and Construction
Project, Geological Survey and other projects. Ms. Cui is a graduate
of Lanzhou Jiaotong University, holding a bachelor’s degree in
Industrial and Civil Construction and a master’s degree in Economic
Management, and a certificate holder of Senior Engineer, Senior
Project Manager and Corporate Trainer.

Mr. Wang Pengxu, aged 37, joined the Group in 2018 and is
presently the General Manager of Southwest Region and Country
Manager of Bangladesh. Mr. Wang previously worked as general
manager of CITIC Construction Beijing office, assistant general
manager and investment director of CITIC Endi Water Technology.
Mr. Wang graduated from Tsinghua University with a master’s degree
in water conservancy engineering, He also received a master’s
degree in finance from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business,
and holds the certificate of senior economist.
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The directors submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of Frontier Services Group Limited (the
“Company”) are investment holding and management. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the performance of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) for the year by operating segments is set out in Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are
set out in the consolidated income statement on page 95.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company does not
recommend the payment of any dividend (2020: Nil) for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are set out in the Chairman’s
Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis of this
annual report. The review forms part of the Report of the Directors.

Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
are provided in the paragraph below.

Detailed discussions on the Group’s environmental policies,
relationships with its key stakeholders, and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
this annual report. The discussions form part of the Report of the
Directors.

Frontier Services Group Limited 5t 22 BR7% = E B R A 7

EFEEREREZIRERBE_FT—_—F 1T A
ST ALFEZEERGEMBRE

ETERK
LREEEERAA(ARA) 2EBEH

RIEERNERE - TEMBARZ T 2EBF
BEHINA AP BRRML 16 -

ZK”“ﬁ&EMT% AlI([RE&ER ) REESEE
DZFRARBEDTHIN N E P BEHRRMEES

RERTD K

AEERHE_T_—F+_A=+—HLEFEZ
XEHINEBEZGFARER -

RE

AEE AR EFEE((EEE ) TEFRN
ERARE(ZE_2F &) -

EHROE

FRCRBUEGIDM R 5 TR E < NE B % OB
BN AFREIFEREREEE I B IS o
ZOEBRESERE M -

B AR S B T B 0 X 2 AL B TR E R R Al
BN TR -

BAREENRERER  HETEMNHEMREEZ
BRMETHASBBREAZENRBERENR

ERB WA ISR AFRZRE Zi/\&e./u
HE - FRAIRBRESFTHREN —&0



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group is exposed to various risks, including factors that are
unique to the Group and the markets in which it operates, in addition
to those risks that are shared by most other businesses. The Group
has implemented a risk management and internal control framework
to identify current and foreseeable risks at different levels of the
Group in order to monitor and mitigate their adverse impacts.

The following discussion highlights the risks that are believed
to be most germane to the Group at this time. Any or all of the
Group’s business, financial status, operations, personnel, and
outlook may be adversely or, potentially, materially affected by the
identified risks. The scope of the risks influencing the Group may
exceed those presented herein, so the following is not intended
to be comprehensive. Rather, the list of risks may include in the
future unknown matters that ultimately have an impact, material or
otherwise, on the Group.

Geopolitical Environment — The Group’s core business is the
provision of logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure services
to customers operating across the Belt and Road region from South
East Asia to Africa. The Group’s target geographies include many
of the world’s emerging markets. However, the orderly transition
of elected leadership, especially within less developed countries,
has been challenged at times, creating localised political risk.
In addition, regional pockets of terrorism, often directed toward
governments and related agencies, can compound the geopolitical
risk inherent. Therefore, diversification, across end-markets,
service capabilities and operating locations, is the cornerstone of
the Group’s process to mitigate geopolitical risk. Like the military
coup happened in Myanmar in 2020, this resulted in many foreign
investors cancelled or aborted their investments there. Prolonged
delay on projects are expected. This will indirectly affect the
development of the Group’s businesses there. Fortunately, the
Group’s investment in Myanmar is very minimum.

Economic Environment — The Group employs a strategy of
diversification to hedge against cyclical downturns in geographic
regions and specific end-markets. Nevertheless, the Group’s
regional markets, writ large, have been and will continue to be
affected by commodity prices and balance-of-trade issues.

Compliance — Similar to the intrinsic geopolitical risk arising from
operating in Africa, corruption is found in fast-growing markets. The
Group rigorously adheres to all applicable anti-bribery statues of
various jurisdictions and offers a thorough anti-corruption training
program to all of its staff members to reduce the risk of corruption to
the business.
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Aviation — The Group has invested considerable resources into the
development of its aviation capabilities. The global aviation market
carries numerous inherent risks, from the safe operation of aircraft
to the evolution of local regulatory policies. The Group follows all
policies and procedures to ensure that its aviation operations are
fully compliant with the relevant civil aviation authority and that it
operates its fleet in the safest and most reliable manner.

Competition — The Group has endeavoured to be the first business
to bring a complete logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure
service solution to Belt and Road markets. Within its primary aviation
and logistics segment — air and ground - the Group faces strong
competition from existing vendors specialising in one or more of the
Group’s lines of service. The Group continually adapts its tactical
response to the ever-changing competitive landscape across its
target markets. Combining security services with logistics, aviation,
insurance and infrastructure offerings is a huge market differentiator.

Global Operations — The Group, headquartered in Hong Kong, now
conducts operations in three continents, Asia, Africa and Europe. As
a result, considerable ongoing coordination is required to manage
the business in the most effective manner across multiple time zones
and numerous geographies.

Financial — The Group operates across multiple jurisdictions and
conducts business in multiple foreign currencies. As such, the
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risks and even exchange
control. The Group monitors its cash position and overall near-and
medium-term liquidity on a weekly basis, and makes all necessary
adjustments to ensure that the business has a functioning capital
structure.

Strategy — The Group is fully committed to its strategic development
of an integrated logistics, security, insurance and infrastructure
service offering. The execution of this vision requires great
coordination among the Group’s operating businesses, in addition
to the cooperation of other potential partners. Further, the fulfillment
of the Group’s strategy may require the addition of new geographic
or service capabilities, either through greenfield investment or
corporate acquisition. While the Group proactively plans for these
potential requirements, there are no assurances that the required
investment opportunities will exist in the future.

Personnel — The Group’s success is ultimately determined by its
dedicated staff, and the ability to grow the business is predicated
on the Group’s ability to recruit, train, and retain highly qualified
personnel who share a passion for the corporate vision. The loss
of any key staff member or a failure to attract new personnel could
have a negative and potentially material effect on the Group and its
prospects.
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Highly Regulated Business — The Group is subject to a number
of national and local regulatory bodies by virtue of its global
operations. Failure to comply with any one of the applicable
regulatory regimes could have an adverse impact on the Group’s
operation. Consequently, the Group expends substantial resources
ensuring its businesses operate in a fully compliant manner, often
with the assistance of third-party service providers who specialise in
such matters.

Sanction Risks — The Group is subject to sanction risks imposed by
various bodies by virtue of its global business in frontier markets.
These sanction risks might impose restrictions to the Group’s
business and might have an adverse impact on the Group’s
operation. The Group has put in place various measures, including
but not limited to seeking external legal counsel’s advice and the
establishment of risk committee, to ensure these sanction risks
would not have a material impact on the Group’s operation. The Risk
Committee of the Company had also adopted a sanction policy and
terms of reference.

In 2021, the world economy had been hampered by outbreak of
Covid-19 pandemic and there was no exception to the Group’s
operation worldwide, except for the aviation business in Kenya, the
security business in Africa and the EPC project in Laos, which had
reported a significant improvement in revenue and operating result.
Other than that, the Group had been relatively sluggish or even
came to a standstill in pursuing and/or developing its projects in
Cambodia, Myanmar and Bangladesh during 2021. Nevertheless,
the Group will continue to monitor and assess its operations and/or
business activities in the countries where the Group may expose to
sanction risks.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND SHARE
AWARD

Details of the movements in the share capital, share options and
share award of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in Notes 28, 29 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

RESERVES

The Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 December
2021, which solely comprised contributed surplus, amounted to
HK$558,899,000 (2020: HK$558,899,000). Details of the movements
in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
are set out in Note 32 and Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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DONATIONS

Charitable and other donation made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$74,000 (2020:
HK$318,000).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends to the
shareholders of the Company by way of cash or shares. Any
distribution of dividends shall be in accordance with the Hong Kong
Laws, the bye-laws of the Company, the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended from time to time) and any other applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to
the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of dividend
will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In proposing any
dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter alia:

o the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

o shareholders’ interests;

o retained earnings, distributable reserves and contributed
surplus of the Company and each of the other members of the
Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity

and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

o possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends or other covenants
on the Group’s financial ratios that may be imposed by the

Group’s financial creditors;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

o liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;
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o taxation considerations;

. statutory and regulatory restrictions;
o general business conditions and strategies;
o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

. other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is
no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any
specific periods.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, non-
controlling interests and shareholders’ equity of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 232 of the Annual Report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2021. Neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2021 and up to the date of this report are:

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chang Zhenming (“Mr. Chang”)
Mr. Fei Yiping (“Mr. Fei”)
Mr. Chan Kai Kong (“Mr. Chan”)
(appointed on 28 February 2021)
Mr. Dorian Barak (“Mr. Barak”)
(appointed on 19 April 2021)
Mr. Zhang Yukuan (“Mr. Zhang”)
(appointed on 21 October 2021)
Mr. Zhang Yichen (resigned on 28 February 2021)

Executive Directors

Mr. Ko Chun Shun, Johnson (“Mr. Ko”)
Mr. Luo Ning (“Mr. Luo”)
Mr. Li Xiaopeng (“Mr. Li")
(appointed on 20 January 2022)
Dr. Hua Dongyi (resigned on 10 March 2021)
Mr. Erik D. Prince
(resigned on 13 April 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yap Fat Suan, Henry (“Mr. Yap”)

Mr. Cui Liguo (“Mr. Cui”)

Mr. Hooi Hing Lee (“Mr. Hooi")

Dr. Chan Wing Mui, Helen (“Dr. Chan”)
(appointed on 21 October 2021)

Dr. Harold O. Demuren (retired on 15 May 2021)

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Luo, Mr. Li, Mr. Fei,
Mr. Zhang, Mr. Yap and Dr. Chan will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from all independent non-executive directors and considers them
to be independent. Under the terms of their appointment, the
independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific
term and are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company'’s Bye-laws.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and subject to the statues,
every director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which
he may sustain or incur in the execution of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has taken out and maintained
insurance against the liability and costs associated with defending
any proceedings which may be brought against the directors of the
Company. The level of coverage is reviewed annually.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

The Company completed the issuance of convertible bonds
on 22 October 2021 with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$210,000,000 to five different subscribers, which are convertible
into 210,000,000 shares of the Company at a conversion price of
HK$1.00 per share upon full conversion. Details of the Company’s
convertible bonds during the year are set out in Note 26(b) to the
consolidation financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and other than the share option scheme
and the share award scheme of the Company as set out in Notes 29
and 30 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively and the
preference shares issued by DVN (Group) Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares entered into by the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 or subsisted as
at 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions are set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. The related party transactions set
out in Note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, these
transactions are fully exempt from any disclosure requirements as
the aggregate amount of these transactions is below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
31 December 2021.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 58 to 67 of the
Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

At 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
directors in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
its associated corporations, as defined in Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”), were as follows:
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Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company REQATDABROREBRO ZFR
Number of
underlying
shares held
Number of ordinary shares held gyl % of the
FEERER#E RO#E issued share
Personal Family Corporate Personal capital of the
Name of director interests interests interests Total interests Grand total Company
ERARE BT
EEp4R BAAER E4T AR R o B AR FoHY BRABD
Mr. Ko - 2,040,816 268,776,719 270,817,535 - 270,817,535 11.55%
BLE (Note (i) (Note (ii))
(Hiz) (Wi (i)
Mr. Barak - 250,000 - 250,000 - 250,000 0.01%
Barak %4 (Note (iii)
(Hiez (i)
Notes: et -
0) These shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Ko. (i) ZERDBESEEZRBIFE ©

(i) This represents:

(a) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 48,276,719 ordinary shares
of the Company held by First Gain International Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in First Gain International
Limited;

(b) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 175,500,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under
the SFO by virtue of his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited; and

(c) the deemed interests of Mr. Ko in the 45,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company held by Greater Harmony Limited under the SFO
by virtue of his interests in Greater Harmony Limited.

(i)~ These shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Barak.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2021, none of the
directors had any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations which had been recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

(i)  ZEFIE -

(a) WBEFHFEHAEHKEN  ARSTERFirst
Gain International Limited 2 #x§ + e 1R
& A First Gain International Limited #F
B2 48,276, 719 AN R BB 2 %

(b) BEFBHFRBEGEN R EER
Rich Hill Capital Limited = # 2§ » # #
5% {E #E 5 Rich Hill Capital Limited## 8 2
175,500,000 IR AR B iR 2 a0 &

(c) BEBHRERBMEKDH BRBEER
Greater Harmony Limited 2 #2 » I8
{E ¥ 7 Greater Harmony Limited # & ~
45,000,000 A A2 &) % @A 2 #E A o

(i) ZFMKA h Barak e £ 2 RBRE °

BEXHREEN KRB —E+-A=+—
B - A AR A A A A2 IR £
SARRIR (9 R A A R AR IR 4 T 158
352 (ETFE 2 B2 s ske - AR
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above
and in the share options disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2021, other than the interests and short positions of
the directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed in the
section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above, the following interests of 5%
or more of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded
in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

E=WERG 2ER

B EX [EERA R R SHAEFREEE RN & HE
BBy 2 HEm MR R | — B TR EE RAR A TS
MR 29FIRE 2 BIRESN  EAEELRE
F5 B ZEEBRF T BN F R
ERTAEBALRGROMER 2 - THE
TTREAERIZ BN o AR RE (T E R B IR
B2 AR BEESARGEMNE M
EEZ RSN o

FERRRHEMALTRARD 2R

RZEZ—F+-A=+—H BLEX[&EF®
AR B SR AREOEE R MARR R 2 s K
KR —HPRBZARTEEREIRITRA
BZREZIXRIN BREARRZRES AR
WGP 336 EFEZ R E LML HEAR
A BEITRARE% A L2 m 2 T ERRRE
B AL :

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company REQXTRAREBERGZHE
Number of Number of
underlying underlying
Number of ordinary shares held shares held  shares held
gl gzl
FEEERY A RHHE ROHE
% of the
Direct Through Direct Through issued share
beneficially controlled Beneficially controlled capital of
Name owned corporations Total owned corporations  Grand total the Company
BRLE
BRITRE
£ ERRENEE BBXELT ax EHREEER EBBXELF ast ARl
Easy Flow Investments Limited 607,592,607 - 607,592,607 - - 607,592,607 25.91%
BHRERRAT
CITIC Investment (HK) Limited - 607,592,607 607,592,607 - - 607,592,607 25.91%
MEREEE (BB)ARAA (Note (i)
(W ()
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Name

1

CITIC Corporation Limited
hEPERRAR

CITIC Limited
PEFERDERAA

CITIC Group Corporation
hEPEEEERAT

CITIC Capital MB Investment Limited

CITIC GL Limited

CITIC Capital Holdings Limited
MEERERERAT

Trinity Gate Limited

Timeness Vision Limited

Teng Rongsong
BRI

Rich Hill Capital Limited

Number of ordinary shares held

Number of Number of
underlying underlying
shares held  shares held

Fris e Fri e

FsEEREE gk 4= R &8
Direct Through Direct Through
beneficially controlled Beneficially controlled
owned corporations Total owned corporations
EREREF BAZEAT & EREZER BEIELT
- 607,592,607 607,592,607 - -

(Note (ii))

(W(iy)
- 607,592,607 607,592,607 - -

(Note (i)

(et (i)
- 607,592,607 607,592,607 - -

(Note (iv))

(Wit ()
94,920,000 - 94,920,000 - 100,000,000
- - - 100,000,000 -

(Note (v))
(Hzm)
- 94,920,000 94,920,000 - 100,000,000
(Note (vi)) (Note vi)
(B ) Bz )

175,399,571 - 175,399,571 - -
- 175399571 175,399,571 - -

(Note (vii)

(Bst (i)
- 175399571 175,399,571 - -

(Note (viii))

(HiE (viij)
175,500,000 - 175,500,000 - -

Grand total

it

607,592,607

607,592,607

607,592,607

194,920,000

100,000,000

194,920,000

175,399,671

175,399,671

175,399,671

175,500,000
(Note (ix)
(Wit (ix)

Annual Report 2021 %

% of the
issued share
capital of
the Company
HERE
BRTRE
BAk

25.91%

25.91%

25.91%

8.31%

4.26%

8.31%

7.48%

7.48%

7.48%

7.48%
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Number of Number of
underlying underlying
Number of ordinary shares held shares held  shares held
gl gzl
fisEERY A gk 4= gk 4=
% of the
Direct Through Direct Through issued share
beneficially controlled Beneficially controlled capital of
Name owned corporations Total owned corporations  Grand total the Company
EARR
BRIRAE
B HERGHA BBILNR #x ERERES EBILNN @zt ERa
Taiping Trustees Limited 160,000,000 - 160,000,000 - - 160,000,000 6.82%
AFERBRAT
Taiping Financial Holdings Company Limited - 160,000,000 160,000,000 - - 160,000,000 6.82%
ATERERERAR (Note (x))
(Wit (y)
China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited - 160,000,000 160,000,000 - - 160,000,000 6.82%
PEATRBERERAF (Note (xi))
(Wi (x)
Mr. Li - - - 230,769,228 - 230,769,228 9.84%
Tk (Note (x))
(Wtx)
Notes: Biat -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

CITIC Investment (HK) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in Easy
Flow Investments Limited.

CITIC Corporation Limited is deemed to be interested in the
607,592,607 ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow
Investments Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC
Investment (HK) Limited.

CITIC Limited is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited under
the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Corporation Limited.

CITIC Group Corporation is deemed to be interested in the 607,592,607
ordinary shares of the Company held by Easy Flow Investments Limited
under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC Limited. Mr. Luo Ning,
a deputy chairman and an executive director of the Company, is an
employee of CITIC Group Corporation.

Frontier Services Group Limited ¢ £ iz 755 B A R A A

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

BIEEHFREEED - ARRERETE(BH)A
RARFERBEBREGRARZER - BIRRIER
BRHKEBRAFRFE 2R AT 607,592,607 f&
LA S o

RIEEHFRAEER - ARPEREERAEZHE
FEREEE (FE)BRABZELR - BIRGIERE
BRHKEBRAFRFE ZAR AT 607,592,607 f&
LA S o

RIEEHRAEE - ARPEREROBERAF]
BEPEFPEERARZERS  MERIEEERD
REBRARFE ZARE 607,592,607 f% L iE ik
2 o

RIEEHRAEEN - ARFPEREEERRAR
BEFETPEROAERARZED - BWEEES
BEREARRFFAE 2 A AR 607,592,607 iR E
BRZER - ARRIZBIERERNITESTRELLE
ATETEEEERARZES -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

(v)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

()

(i)

(x)

CITIC Capital MB Investment Limited is deemed to be interested in the
100,000,000 underlying ordinary shares of the Company held by CC GL
Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CC GL Limited.

CITIC Capital Holdings Limited has control over CITIC Capital MB
Investment Limited, which in turn has direct and indirect controls of
94,920,000 ordinary shares and 100,000,000 underlying ordinary
shares of the Company, respectively. CITIC Capital Holdings Limited is
deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares and underlying ordinary
shares of the Company under the SFO by virtue of its interests in CITIC
Capital MB Investment Limited.

Timeness Vision Limited is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares of the Company held by Trinity Gate Limited under the
SFO by virtue of its interests in Trinity Gate Limited.

Mr. Teng Rongsong is deemed to be interested in the 175,399,571
ordinary shares held by Trinity Gate Limited by virtue of its interests in
Timeness Vision Limited.

Mr. Ko is deemed to be interested in the 175,500,000 shares of the
Company held by Rich Hill Capital Limited under the SFO by virtue of
his interests in Rich Hill Capital Limited. Such interest forms a part of
the corporate interests in the ordinary shares of the Company interested
by Mr. Ko as set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above. Mr. Ko is a
director of Rich Hill Capital Limited.

Taiping Financial Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company held
by Taiping Trustees Limited under the SFO by virtue of its interests in
Taiping Trustees Limited.

China Taiping Insurance Holdings Company Limited is deemed to be
interested in the 160,000,000 ordinary shares held by Taiping Trustees
Limited by virtue of its interests in Taiping Financial Holdings Company
Limited.

These interests are the deferred consideration shares of up to
230,769,228 new shares of the Company which shall be issued to
Mr. Li subject to the fulfiiment of certain conditions, details of which
are disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
Subsequent to 31 December 2021, Mr. Li was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 20 January 2022.

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

BIEEH KB EKH - BH RCITIC Capital
MB Investment Limited#¥ 75 CC GL Limited 2 #&
% MU R EHE B CC GL Limited# B 2 AR 7
100,000,000 % A8 R#E & ik < s ©

FEEARERAR AR ZEGCITIC Capital MB
Investment Limited * M CITIC Capital MB
Investment Limited Il 5 Bl & & & B #12 §1 AR A &)
94,920,000 % & 3@ A% & 100,000,000 fix 18 @ &% i@
i o RIEZBHRBEED - BRPEERERER
AF)$F A CITIC Capital MB Investment Limited 2

R B A AR E B KA E B

BIEFE S K E KA - & R Timeness Vision
Limited 4 £ Trinity Gate Limited 2 # 2§ #&
¥ 18 1F % B Trinity Gate Limited3% & 2 &K 2 7
175,399,571 R E @R 2 # 4w o

A A A SR A 35 Timeness Vision Limited 2 1
I AR ERE A Trinity Gate Limited 58 2 AR
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BIEFH R EEGEH - B & 5% % ARich Hill
Capital Limited 2 # % + # 1% 18 & # A& Rich Hill
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M2 ZERREX EX [ EFRARANE
IEESEER G RIEERG 2= RKE | —8R
I BAERBARRE BB ARIERZ — I
13 » 44 A Rich Hill Capital Limited 2 &% -
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ZHERS
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other person
(other than the directors or chief executive of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section titled “DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
above) had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 33% (2020: 37%) of the total sales
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to approximately 8% (2020:
13%). Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 20% (2020: 15%) of the total purchases for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 9% (2020: 4%).

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its directors, the directors confirmed that the
Company has maintained at least 25% public float during the year
as required under the Listing Rules.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group did not
have any material events occurred other than those disclosed in
Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Frontier Services Group Limited ¢ £ iz 755 B A R A A

b EXFEEEN  RZEZ—F+=-A=1+—
B BEEMAL(RRRESEHFEITHRAER
BN HEZRSEHIIN EX [EERARA
AT AR EB R G RABER GO 2 #Rm AR |
— 8 ) AR R sl AR RE A% (D R R B IR K E
H MHAE IS 336 KB Frotk 2 e sk B ©

ITREFRHER

REBEE  AEEEFTRREP ZHEB|MHG
HE-_ZT-_—HF+_A=+—HILFEZHE
BMEEAIBR (ZTEZTF :37%) ETHF &
AEE ZHMEFENES% (Z T T4 : 13%) °
REBMAABEREE 2 RBHELHBEE S =—

+Z A=+ —HLEFEREREN20% (ZF=
TF 15%) + AR HEAHER 2 IRERELEI%
(ZZEZFF  4%) °

ARRIEF LW FEMBEAKBEFHAER
BEARR D EITRAE% HIA £ 2 BRERBLER
AEBERNAIATEFAHERES TN ESRE

ﬁo

RHARERE

REARBMGZARENRBEESHMA  EF
R ARARANFERN—EEF EHRAR

EZERD25% RBMFFRE -

HEREER

Bire S MRMTISHMEE I - AEER
BEPRREBMBEREEMERER -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

AUDITOR = E R

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by OB EHMEEZEATHHRE
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer EmEiR  YHEERBBENARREERER
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general FRGERET -

meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board REREEE

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson = iRIE

Director EFE

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022 5% ZTZZF=A=+H
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FRONTIER SERVICES GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Frontier Services Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 95 to 231, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key
audit matters identified in our audit are related to purchase price
allocation and contingent consideration for the acquisition of DeWe
Security Limited and its subsidiaries and impairment assessment of
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the Aviation and Logistics Business segment.
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Key Audit Matter

Purchase price allocation and contingent
consideration for the acquisition of DeWe
Security Limited and its subsidiaries

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting estimates
and judgments), Note 15 (Goodwill and
other intangibles) and Note 34 (Business
combination and disposal of subsidiaries) to
the consolidated financial statements

On 22 October 2021, the Group completed
the acquisition of 100% equity interest in
DeWe Security Limited and its subsidiaries
(together, the “DeWe Group”), a group of
entities principally engaged in the provision of
security and guarding services and healthcare
services (the “Acquisition”). Management
has engaged an independent qualified
valuer to assist them in identifying intangible
assets and to perform the valuations of the
identified assets and liabilities of the acquired
companies at the acquisition date and, based
on which, management performed a purchase
price allocation exercise for the Acquisition,
which resulted in recognition of intangible
assets of HK$80,831,000, mainly representing
the identified customer relationship and order
backlog. Goodwill of HK$238,525,000, being
the excess of considerations transferred
over the fair value of identified net assets
acquired, and contingent consideration of
HK$135,055,000, being the amount calculated
with reference to the probability-adjusted
profit of the target group of companies, were
recognised.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

Our procedures in relation to the accounting
for the Acquisition included the following:

We obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control on the
preparation of cash flow projection and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

We assessed the competency, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer engaged
by management.

We obtained the valuation report in relation
to the purchase price allocation and the
contingent consideration for the Acquisition,
and engaged our in-house valuation experts
to assess the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies adopted by management and
the reasonableness of discount rates used by
management.

We challenged and assessed the
reasonableness of the key assumptions
in determining the fair value of identified
intangible assets and the contingent
consideration including various scenarios of
achievement of net profit targets, based on
historical performance and approved budget,
with the involvement of our inhouse valuation
experts.

We evaluated the reasonableness of the
sensitivity analysis performed by management
on the key assumptions to understand the
impact of reasonable changes in assumptions
on the identified intangible assets and
contingent consideration.
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Key Audit Matter

Significant judgments and estimates were
involved in the fair value assessment of the
identified intangible assets and contingent
consideration arising from the Acquisition.
These significant judgments and estimates
include the adoption of appropriate valuation
methodologies and the use of key assumptions
in the valuation (mainly annual revenue growth
rate, discount rates, attrition rate of customer
relationship, expected useful lives of order
backlog and probability of various scenarios
of achievement of net profit targets used for
the calculation of contingent consideration),
which are subject to high degree of estimation
uncertainty.

We focused on the purchase price
allocation for the Acquisition and contingent
consideration because the estimation of
fair value of intangible assets identified and
contingent consideration is subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the assessment is considered
significant due to significant judgments
involved in assumptions used in the valuation
model.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

We checked the mathematical accuracy
of the calculations of the fair value of the
identified intangible assets and contingent
consideration.

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to the Acquisition in the context of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

We also considered whether the judgments
made in selecting the methods, assumptions
used in the cash flow forecasts would give rise
to indicators of possible management bias.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that the estimation of fair value
of intangible assets identified and contingent
consideration in relation to the Acquisition was
supported by the available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of the Aviation and
Logistics Business segment (“AL Business
Segment”)

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting estimates
and judgments), Note 13 (Property, plant
and equipment), Note 14 (Leases) and Note
15 (Gooawill and other intangibles) to the
consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s AL
Business Segment owned intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets before impairment amounted
to HK$5,306,000, HK$49,710,000 and
HK$100,719,000, respectively. These assets
require an impairment assessment if an
impairment indicator is identified.

The AL Business Segment has been loss
making since 2013 and recorded an operating
loss of HK$46,704,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021. This represented an
impairment indicator for the relevant intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets.

Management performed an impairment
assessment in respect of the intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of each AL Business Segment related
CGU using the value-in-use method which
involved significant judgment in determining
the assumptions used in the calculations. The
key assumptions include:

U gross margin percentage
g annual revenue growth rate;
U terminal growth rate; and

. discount rate.

B ZBERE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

Our procedures in relation to management's
impairment assessment of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the AL Business Segment included
the following:

We obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control and impairment
assessment process of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

We evaluated and challenged the composition
of management's future cash flow forecasts
used in their value-in-use calculations, and the
process by which they were prepared.

We compared the current year actual results
with the amounts included in the prior year
cash flow forecast to consider the quality of
management's forecasting, and we checked
that management had considered the current
year actual results in the preparation of
this year's forecasts. We also inquired of
management to understand the reasons for the
deviation of the actual results for the current
year from prior year forecast, comparing the
explanations to our market knowledge and
expectations, and checked that the relevant
factors had been taken into account in this
year's forecasts.
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Key Audit Matter

In relation to the impairment assessment
of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets in each AL
Business Segment related CGU, management
determined the recoverable amounts as the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less
costs of disposal, which was calculated by
benchmarking against the price quotation of a
comparable model in the second-hand market
or price quotation provided by independent
buyer. The fair value less costs of disposal
of intangible assets was considered not
measurable.

A provision for impairment of HK$2,029,000,
HK$5,389,000 and HK$10,342,000 was
made for the intangible assets, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets,
respectively, for the year ended 31 December
2021, in which the recoverable amounts of
these assets were determined as the higher
of value-in-use and fair value less costs of
disposal.

We focused on the impairment assessment
of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the AL
Business Segment because the estimation of
recoverable amounts of the CGUs is subject
to high degree of estimation uncertainty. The
inherent risk in relation to the impairment
assessment is considered significant due to
significant judgments involved in assumptions
used in the calculation of value-in-use as well
as the judgment required to identify suitable
market comparable data to determine the fair
value less costs of disposal of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

The procedures we performed over
management’s key assumptions used in the
cash flow forecasts included:

. comparing gross margin percentage
and annual revenue growth rate to
historical actual figures;

. benchmarking the terminal growth
rate against industry forecasts; and

. benchmarking the discount rate
against our research on the discount
rate for comparable companies.

We evaluated sensitivity analysis performed
by management around the key assumptions
by calculating the degree to which these
assumptions would need to change to trigger
further material impairment. We determined
that the calculation was most sensitive to the
gross margin percentage annual revenue
growth rate, terminal growth rate and discount
rate assumptions, and we discussed and
challenged management’s view on the
likelihood of such a change in the growth rates
and discount rate.

In relation to the fair value less costs of
disposal of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, we checked, on a
sample basis, the market price quotations for
comparable property, plant and equipment
or the price quotations from potential buyer
of certain dismantled parts identified by
management to the relevant source. We
also compared, on a sample basis, the key
specifications, including the model, year of
manufacture, equipment and modifications
of the comparable property, plant and
equipment with those owned by the Group to
assess the suitability of the comparison. We
also performed our own internet search, on
a sample basis, on the fair value less costs
of disposal of similar property, plant and
equipment.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to the impairment assessment
of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets in the
context of the applicable financial reporting
framework.

We also considered whether the judgments
made in selecting the methods, assumptions
used in the calculation of value-in-use and
market comparable data used to determine the
fair value less costs of disposal of intangible
assets, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets would give rise to
indicators of possible management bias.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that the impairment assessment
of intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the AL
Business Segment was appropriate and the
methods, assumptions used in the calculation
of value-in-use and market comparable data
used in the impairment assessment were
supported by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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/ The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kong Ling Yin, Raymond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

e W R

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE-F-_-—F+-A=1+—"HLHFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
et FET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers REZFEA 42 WA 6 756,123 605,246
Cost of direct materials and job expenses BE#EM A E B K TIEF X (248,400) (152,467)
Cost of aircraft management services — R#&E 1% RSB AN - (81,520)
Data costs HUE KA (6,073) (5,907)
Employee benefit expenses EERFAHAX 7 (242,431) (238,984)
Sub-contracting charges NEER (197,948) (166,942)
Rental expenses HeEH 10 (12,562) (12,692)
Repair and maintenance costs HERRSER (14,223) (21,694)
Depreciation and amortisation ree ey 10, 13, 14 & 15 (49,684) (53,569)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARZER 34(b) - (486)
Other operating expenses HithEiEEA 10 (67,048) (72,105)
Other income and other gains, net E YA R E A 5 F 5 10 8,335 4,263
Provision for impairment of property, ME  MBEREREUARE
plant and equipment and right-of- BREEZRERE
use assets 13 & 14 (15,731) -
Provision for impairment of other HEh R E E 2 B ERE
intangibles 16 (2,029) -
Impairment losses on financial assets & & E 2 FEEE 21822 (30,866) (14,266)
Operating loss LEEE (122,537) (211,123)
Interest income B WA 2,033 3,702
Finance costs & KA 8 (15,231) (19,485)
Share of profits/(losses) of associates fE/EEE AT N —HA &
and a joint venture, net ARlwA(E8) 38 17 3,344 (2,478)
Provision for impairment of asset held- F{EHEEE 7 MERE
for-sale 31 (10,396) -
Provision for impairment of interest in A —ME#t & AR 2w 2
an associate AR 17 - (8,693)
Loss before income tax & P15 %5 mil 5 18 (142,787) (238,077)
Income tax (expense)/credit FIE# (AR e 9 (14,392) 9,491
LOSS FOR THE YEAR EEEE 10 (157,179) (228,586)
Attributable to: LA FEAh
Equity holders of the Company RAGIREREA 32 (159,699) (228,029)
Non-controlling interests eI 2,520 (557)
(157,179) (228,586)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE EATREFEAELE
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE BREE
COMPANY
Basic and diluted loss per share FREAREEER 11 (6.81) cents (9.72) cents




merZHEWaER

or the year ended 31 December 2021
(B E - —F+-_HA=1T—HItFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2021 2020
—E=-—F —TTF
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEEBS (157,179) (228,586)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hib 2 (FE)
ltems that have been reclassified or may be BEEFHENAREREFHE
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss EE=CIER
Foreign exchange differences P& X Z=%8 (4,598) 3,275
Release of exchange reserve upon & B B N ) B 185 [B] B 3,
disposal of subsidiaries ] - 1,591
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the FEEME2E (EB) k=
year, net of tax (Br#i12) (4,598) 4,866
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE FETEEBEAE
YEAR (161,777) (223,720)
Attributable to: AT PG :
Equity holders of the Company RATREREA (164,310) (223,141)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR 2,533 (579)
(161,777) (223,720)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &

As at 31 December 2021
RZZE=——F+=-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E=-—-F —TTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FBT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - MBS RE 13 54,032 75,929
Right-of-use assets FRAREE 14 139,674 144,421
Goodwill and other intangibles HENEMERLEE 15 319,985 7,646
Interests in associates AN /NEC] v e 17(a) 44,373 39,401
Interest in a joint venture NN YNCIp 17(d) - 983
Deferred income tax assets BIEFTSMEE 18 6,245 17,635
Non-current prepayments JEBNHATE S 3R 19 45,760 54,917
Financial assets at fair value through R AR EEBEBEHM T E
other comprehensive income W Rz e mMEE 5 4
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 610,074 340,936
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 20 4,724 3,216
Trade and bills receivables B 5 W GRIA & Uk ZE ik 21 195,586 155,460
Prepayments, deposits and other TR e REMmEY
receivables E Q=] 22 75,466 110,485
Contract assets BHEE 6(b) 11,957 =
Tax receivables & U F T8 1,102 1,041
Cash and cash equivalents RENBESEED 23 267,431 318,681
556,266 588,883
Assets held-for-sale FIEHEBE 31 7,133 10,099
Total current assets mENEEREAE 563,399 598,982
Total assets BEHE 1,173,473 939,918
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEME
Trade payables B 5N HRIB 24 69,646 60,223
Other payables and accruals HibfE AR EER 25 119,316 91,012
Contract liabilities GREE 6(b) 34,158 4,725
Borrowings B3 26 21,439 18,443
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 30,821 54,584
Tax payables FEA B TE 6,875 103
Total current liabilities mEB B ERTE 282,255 229,090
Net current assets MBEEFE 281,144 369,892




, CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR M AR &

s at 31 December 2021
RN —F+=-A=+—H

2020
—E=-—F —TTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaF FET FET
Total assets less current liabilities BEABRTBSERE 891,218 710,828
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEME
Lease liabilities HE&aE 14 34,407 51,436
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFBHEE 18 43,766 32,708
Contingent consideration payable FERT S ARIE 34(a) 135,055 =
Borrowings B 26 172,840 -
Total non-current liabilities ERBBEESE 386,068 84,144
Total liabilities BEERE 668,323 313,234
Net assets EEFE 505,150 626,684
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to the Company’s  ANA Gk B A FE(G 1
equity holders =
Share capital &N 28 234,482 234,482
Reserves i 32 150,157 274,184
384,639 508,666
Non-controlling interests FEE AR A 2 33 120,511 118,018
Total equity B 505,150 626,684
The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 231 were FOSEEF 231 ENGRAUERREREETEZRN
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2022 and were TR FZA=1+A#ER UIRREFEEE -

signed on its behalf.

Ko Chun Shun, Johnson Luo Ning
= i IE E=
Director Director

EZE EF




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEZRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE T —#+-_A=+—HItFEE

Attributable to equity holders of the

Company
RARERRFAAEN
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
(L& G mE EERER ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
T FET & FET FET
At 1 January 2020 R-ZZE-ZH—-H—H 234,482 484,256 718,738 124,875 843,613
Loss for the year FEEE = (228,029) (228,029) (557) (228,586)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hit2EE ~ (FiE)
Foreign exchange differences BN E5E - 3,297 3,297 (22) 3,275
Release of exchange reserve upon & Bt B 2 7] A5 # O i,
disposal of subsidiaries &M (M7 34(b))
(Note 34(b)) - 1,591 1,591 - 1,591
Other comprehensive income/(loss) & &t 2wz, (&
for the year, net of tax 18) (BR#E) = 4,888 4,888 (22) 4,866
Total comprehensive loss for the FEEABELHE
year - (223,141) (223,141) (579) (223,720)
Transactions with equity holders HEHERIEEAZRS
Share-based compensation LARR D 215 2 Fo B - 6,106 6,106 = 6,106
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBRAR
(Notes 32(v) and 34(b)) (HfE32(v) F134(b)) = 6,963 6,963 = 6,963
Capital injection from non- KE—RWB A RIFEIER
controlling interest of a BmrTE
subsidiary - - - 45 45
Derecognition of non-controlling HEM B A R B EUHRE
interests upon disposal of RIEERAE = (52
subsidiaries (Note 34(b)) 34(b)) = = - (6,323) (6,323)
- 13,069 13,069 (6,278) 6,791
R-B=2F
At 31 December 2020 +=A=+—H 234,482 274,184 508,666 118,018 626,684




; CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

N
mEeEREEH X
or the year ended 31 December 2021
BB —F+-_A=+—RHIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the
Company

AT EEEE AEML
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
i 7% e It FERER R
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FHET FET

At 1 January 2021 R=-B=—%—H—H 234,482 274,184 508,666 118,018 626,684
Loss for the year FEEE - (159,699) (159,699) 2,520 (157,179)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Eft2EUkz  (BE)
Foreign exchange differences fE N =% - (4,611) (4,611) 13 (4,598)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income & H 2 H (EiE) /

for the year, net of tax Wiz (BREEE) - (4,611) (4,611) 13 (4,598)
Total comprehensive loss for the FEXHABELRE

year - (164,310)  (164,310) 2,533 (161,777)
Transactions with equity holders EEEREFEEAZRS
Issue of convertible bonds BT RRESR

(Note 26(b)) (Bf:£26(b)) - 40,283 40,283 - 40,283
Acquisition of non-controlling WE—RHE T2

interests of a subsidiary JEIE R RS - - - (40) (40)

- 40,283 40,283 (40) 40,243
R-ZB=—F

At 31 December 2021 +=BA=+—H 234,482 150,157 384,639 120,511 505,150




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE_Z-_—F+-_A=t+—HIEE

2021 2020
—E-—f —ERTF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
et FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RELETEHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Cash used in operations CEMACES 35 (17,720) (158,774)
Income tax paid EETEH (4,604) (333)
Net cash used in operating activities — &&EEFMA 2 H 4 FE (22,324) (159,107)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RERETH2HERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and BB  HEREE
equipment 13 (12,497) (14,801)
Purchase of aircraft equipment for PR E LB B R
aircraft under lease arrangement B (1,113) -
Prepayment for purchase of property, FEEWE KB KR
plant and equipment and payment BNRBERREE L
for purchase of land-use-rights 15 AR 3K 19 (20,684) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME « BEBRERE
plant and equipment S 30E 35(i) 7,116 356
Proceeds from disposal of assets HERIEHEEEMGSHE
held-for-sale - 6,182
Proceeds from disposal of & T A B B
subsidiaries, net of cash and HUEBRN R KReE
cash equivalents derecognised at EBYMERE
disposal 34(b) - 1,634
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash WEMB AR - {1k KEE
and cash equivalents recognised at RZBERIBEEEY
acquisition 34(a) (171,213) -
Loan to an associate AR & D EREER - (2,926)
Capital contribution to associates and A& AR R—KA & AT
a joint venture rE 17 17) (2,236)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due FEWEE L AT N — KL
from associates and a joint venture RAFERD /() 2,706 (847)
Increase in amount due to an FERT— B A R IEE M
associate - 38,804
Interest received B U FI & 2,033 12,997
Proceeds from disposal of other HEHEMEREEMBSRKE
intangible 1,000 -
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES () Bz
investing activities R&FE (192,669) 39,163




; CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
R EBRERER

or the year ended 31 December 2021
T F+ZA=t+—HILEFE

2021 2020
—E-—f —ERTF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
HtaF FET FHEIL
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REBMETHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid [SAREESE (15,231) (18,720)
Proceeds from issue of convertible BITA R RERFESHIE
bonds 26(b) 210,000 -
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BEERRTEITRD - 105,768
Decrease in restricted cash XRAHIR R - 7,090
Capital contribution from non- —RMB R AR ER 2
controlling interest of a subsidiary FE 33 - 45
Acquisition of non-controlling interest  WE—FRWBA
of a subsidiary FEFE R &3 (40) -
Repayment of other loan BEEMER 26(c) - (134)
Net drawdown of bank loans and bank 12ERITERRFTRZE
advances of discounted bills RITBFFE 26(c) 3,643 14,421
Repayment of principal elements of EEMERRZ AL IR
lease liabilities 26(c) (37,574) (26,668)
Net cash generated from financing ME TSRS FE
activities 160,798 81,802
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH B2 RBELZEBYN 2R
EQUIVALENTS B (54,195) (38,142)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRNzRERRAEEEY
beginning of the year 318,681 353,503
Exchange differences fE N =88 2,945 3,320
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S# BEERELZEY
END OF THE YEAR 23 267,431 318,681




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Frontier Services Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is Suite 3902, 39th Floor, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong.
The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of aviation, logistics,
security, insurance and infrastructure related services, and the
provision of online financial market information. The Company
is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the
Company on 30 March 2022.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), a collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These consolidated
financial statements comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
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, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

’/ 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTBRREE#RE)

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued) 21 mPEEE)
The consolidated financial statements have been RGBTSR B IR B LR AN KA AR
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for (i) certain g2 EORANEBEIENE TS
financial assets and liabilities, which are carried at BEERBBER()VZAABERD
fair value and (ii) the assets held-for-sale which are ENAFTENIFIELEEERI -
measured at fair value less costs to sell. The preparation REREBRBMBRELEN ZERE
of the consolidated financial statements in conformity M REREEFERAE TERS G
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical B R EEREECREALASES
accounting estimates. It also requires management AT ZBEPIEL HIE - P RAE
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying EHEZHE N BE ol - X
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving R R E AR A M B mEmE B
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas BEEBRNE4RHE -

where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note

4.
Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs Fral - 15T RAEIEGT BB BEHRE
EEZRE
In the current year, the Group has adopted all the AEBEREAFERR=ZZE=—F
following amendments to standards for the first time for — A —BARBE B & RN
the accounting period beginning on 1 January 2021: TAHEERZ18E] :
Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent BEMBREES HEEREER
Concession £16R 2185 EBRRERE
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark BESHEAER - FEREE
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, Reform - Phase 2 BB BRE%ER YE—F2H
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 F4% - BEYK
WERZBE TS -
BB B RS %R
FORREBIE
WEED|F 1657 2 E7]
The adoption of these amendments does not have any RN Z SIS ] BB I %5 @ 5 £ R
material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial TresraE@E8gEz=—_2=—F
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. T A=+ BULEFEEZHEANE

BRENEMERTE




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRRNE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TEEHBXRBEA)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued) 21 mEEEE)
Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs Hal - AT REIETE BB HRE
(continued) EEZHE(E)

TOIFET RARE TR C 8 -
HARARANEER-_FT=_—F—A—
BRmzertHEER ML ERER

The following new and amended standards have been
issued, but are not effective for the Group’s accounting
period beginning on 1 January 2021 and have not been

adopted early:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BB WERERE 358 21E5]

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BEMBHRELEAE 10K REES
FTAERIZE 28 57 2 18T

HKFRS 17 and Amendments to
HKFRS 17

BAEMBHEERE 7R RE BN
BMERERNE 17 5% 21E5]

Amendments to HKAS 1

BEGIERFE 1R 2EFT

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

BRGEAE 1R REEMBRE
HREBHREE 2% 2B

Amendments to HKAS 8
BB LR E 8 2 BE]

Amendments to HKAS 12

EEGFEANFE 1258 2 BT

®am -

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
BESER 2 1Rt

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

BREEREBENANEERRICEZEE
HESFE

Insurance Contracts

REBREH

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

HEESBEAREAIFRE

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

B BUR 2 R

Definition of Accounting Estimates
BRI 2 EE

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities

Arising from a Single Transaction
HE -—CPELACEERABBRRBZRLERIA

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

RO BH#A

N2 EBERZ
SRBEXR

1 January 2022
- _F—HA—H

To be determined

N

FEE

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T=-=%—A—H
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Impact of new, amended and revised HKFRSs

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16

EREGFEAFE 165K 2EFT

Amendments to HKAS 37
EBRIERISE T R

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020 Cycle

BEREPBREEN —_Z-NFE_F
“EERHZ FESGE

Amendments to Accounting
Guideline 5
BEHESIE 5 R 2 ER]

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BERBESH(ZF-FF)

The Group will adopt the above new or revised
standards as and when they become effective.
Management has performed preliminary assessment
and does not anticipate any significant impact on the
Group'’s financial position and results of operations upon

adopting these standards.

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

21 REEE(E)

el - AT REECITE B BRE
ERZHE (F)

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use
M - e REE  ERERSAI 2 ATSRIE

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
BEMEH — BITEaR2HA

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16
and HKAS 41

BEMBMELNE 15 - BB RELER
FOW ABMBHRELAE 165K RES
FEHAERIE 41 5% 2 18R]

Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations (Revised)
HEEZEHE G2 &g E (BIEET)

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause

MBHRRk 25 — BRAHESERERERER
ZERERZHHE

TEETBRBE @)

Effective for
accounting

periods beginning

on or after
RUTHH#
RZEERZ
BB ER

1 January 2022
—E--F—HA—H

1 January 2022
T _f—HA—H

1 January 2022

—T--_%—A—H

1 January 2022

—T--_%—A—H

1 January 2023

—T-=%—A—H

REBERR Ll 33T sk B 3T 2R
EREHRAZSEL - ERECHE
TME G BFRMRAZEER
TEHAKB BRI R EEE

EEECAEAYE -

B



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(Note 2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated income statement, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position
respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (c) below),
after initially being recognised at cost.

2

TEETHBRBME (@)

2.2

RERERARERERE

(a)

(b)

B A A
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting
(continued)

(c)

(@)

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”,
investments in joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or joint ventures. The
classification depends on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor, rather than the
legal structure of the joint arrangement.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method (see (d) below), after initially
being recognised at cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in the consolidated income statement,
and the Group’s share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates are recognised as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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e PR R M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

23

Principles of Consolidation and Equity Accounting
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Equity method (continued)

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.10.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

Business Combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

equity interests issued by the Group

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Business Combinations (continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

o consideration transferred,

o amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the
business acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in the consolidated income statement as a bargain
purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as
a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker of the Group. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors
of the Company that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign Currency Translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the group entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional currency and the Group’s presentation
currency.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “finance costs”. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within “other
operating expenses”.

Foreign exchange differences on non-monetary
financial assets, such as equities classified
as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), are included in
other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the end of each reporting
period;

(i)  Income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rate (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign Currency Translation (continued)

(c)

(@)

Group companies (continued)

(iiiy ~ All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Foreign exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the foreign exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the equity holders of the Company are recognised
in the consolidated income statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated foreign
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in
the consolidated income statement. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated foreign exchange differences
is reclassified to the consolidated income

statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.7

Property, Plant and Equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the
consolidated income statement during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, which
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, is provided at the following annual rates:

Over the shorter of the
term of the lease (45
years commencing
2004) and the estimated

Leasehold improvements

useful life
Hangars 40 years
Aircraft and aviation 10 to 20 years
equipment
Plant, machinery and 2.6 to 10 years
tooling
Trucks, trailers and 5to 12.5 years
containers
Motor vehicles 5to 5.5 years
Office equipment 3 to 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 to 8 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.10).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other income and other gains, net” in the consolidated
income statement.

Intangibles

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in
intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of
an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating
to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made
to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
business combination in which the goodwill arose. The
units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.

Other intangibles with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangibles with
indefinite useful lives are not amortised.

Amortisation of other intangibles, which is calculated
using straight-line method to allocate their costs over
their estimated useful lives, is provided at the following
basis:

Operating certificates and
trademark

Non-compete agreements

Customer relationship

Order backlog

Telemed application
software

Over the estimated useful
lives of 9 — 15 years

Over the non-compete
periods of 4 — 6 years

Over the estimated useful
lives of 7 years

Over the estimated useful
lives of 3 — 6 years

Over the estimated useful
lives of 3 years

2

TEETHBRBME (@)

2.7

2.8

M3 BEBRRRE(E)

HEME BBERRBZAEBTL
RS RAEREENEE - RN
RAWERANERS [ BB ARE
fi W FER ] o

BVEE

WEMNBRANEEFTAELE
E-AETTHE HEESFETR
BRI XEFEHHRIERK
SRR F BEHRBER - (FHEA
ZAH > WRKARREREER
Sl - HEERBMKESRERERE
HETHEERAMOAEREE -

BRENANS  BEIRERS
EEEMN - ARASEIHEHKK
ELBENEFAHTESNRS
EXEURBEEEEMARE
e & F B Ak B AR R TY B AR
EEEMNMREEAENREREXR
sl o

BERBEEAERFMcEMETLE
YR P AR R 5T 55 e AR AR RET R
BEERYIR - BAERAERFH
ZEMBLEENTH#E -

BREM A ERFHRAERERK
Ay @\ EE#ER T
EAET R ¢

HERERMEE  REFAIERSF
HIQE 154
TR F B HF M4
E6F
BEEBIER BRI ERF
74
REMETE RAGET A ERF
H3E 64
ERBERERE  IRETAIERSF
1 H3 4




v

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

2.10

Intangibles (continued)

Management reviews the expected useful live at the end
of each reporting period based on the estimated period
over which future economic benefits will be received
by the Group and takes into account the level of future
competition, the risk of technological or functional
obsolescence of the assets, and the expected changes
in the market.

Other intangibles are derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of
other intangibles are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the assets and are recognised with “other income and
other gains, net” in the consolidated income statement
in the period when the assets are derecognised.

Non-Current Prepayments

Prepayments for engine overhaul and maintenance costs
of aircraft are recorded as non-current prepayments as
management has discretion over when these costs have
to be incurred and it is not expected to be utilised within
twelve months.

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets, and Interests in
Subsidiaries and Associates

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’'s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.

EBR AR

2

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

TEETBRBE @)

2.8

29

2.10

BREE (&)

EEERSREMRBENEER
W BROR 2R 48 78 M) & 2 fil 5 AR - &
RAREBFKF BEZKMRY
EERERRARESMTSEEESH YA
SHAIE R F B I LA AR AT

HEPEERHEXRHATER
158 R B H 5 1 2 A R 2R AR O ) 2 B
BOBHER - BUERE BB EE
MEAZANKBERHEMSER
REFREEERTMECZRGE
YTREEBHHER ZHIRMRGA WK
ERER A [ EAUA B Al Wt %
B e

FEENAFE MR

TR BT BERE LSRN AR
BAELRBEHTENT_EAR
BA - BRES ERERRERM
TSRS SBT3 -

HFERMEEURRHBARARBE
DA ZEHERE

AEBERAERFH AERET
BEANTHE YEEFETRE
A IREEHHIBTRESHER
Al BE IR BE RS SR TR E R
Ao EtEEERSHRBERENL
BURNEEMRE AR 88 EA N @i
TRERNH - BEBBLREEZR
HEBLEATKRESHE 2 ZHE
B ARESEANEEZRAAER
HBEHEXRAREREEMRE 28
BERE - NFHBER  BER
ABLHBIRERAZRENRFED
B BRRERARREBINE
MWEEREEMS CREELEM)
ZHRERA - HEABEZFETHE
E(FEEIN EREmEARET
el - AREER B A BEE EIR(E -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets, and Interests in

2.11

Subsidiaries and Associates (continued)

Impairment testing of the interests in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

The Group determines at the end of each reporting
period whether the interest in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the associate and its carrying amount and
recognises the amount in the consolidated income
statement.

Non-Current Assets Held-for-Sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. The non-current assets are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less
costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent
increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset,
but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss
previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously
recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current
asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
presented separately from the other assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Non-current
assets are not depreciated or amortised while they are
classified as held for sale.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss),
and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in the consolidated
income statement or OCI. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in the consolidated income
statement.

2

, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

TEETBRBE @)

212 eREE

(a)

(b)

(c)

b ]

AEBBHEBEENREN
TiEER -

e  HREAAEBMERE(T
i BB E b 2
(REfte2mEa ) iB
SIRNEREE &

e REBEKAFENDAE

BRAPERTEESREEN
EREXBRARBERENS

KGR

REBALBEFENEEM
5 bEkBRSREREE
Wt RSk M2 ERE o SLIF
KIEEEMNKRETAREM
5 BRFARERLTE R
AT RR B TN A S 3 AR 42
RERBERAABEEBEM
EEEETIFR -

AEBENERREEENE
BRAZHHREFOBREFT
g

4

RERGCEECSREE
RZZH(BAEEFAGHEER
HHEBEEER)HER -

iTE

RYIZHERE - AERERAR
EEM(AFRRABEE
BRGIER(EAABEE
BREBIR]) cEREE) W
BZeMEEERRIENRS
RAHEREELEITAE ° %
RRBEEEBBRIIKZESR
BENRZRAG Al 6 e
%o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(c) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies
its debt instruments at amortised cost and FVOCI.

Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets
is included in “interest income” using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in the consolidated income
statement and presented in “other income
and other gains, net” together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.

2

TEETHBRBME (@)

212 ¢RMEE (&)
FrE(E)
EFTA

BB TAZREFEIURRA
SHEREERERERER
BOEBER - AEEBEE
BITADBERIZEHEKAE
RBEAABEEBEMEZEIK
@IER °

(c)

(i)

FERRAHNRERE
(BRTFAERAMEN
) VB E R AR ARG
B A B AE B ER A
FOEFTATRIB WAL
HUHRE R E £ /T
BREBRERREE W
HmRER WERER
W REBEE257% [ Hib
WA R B b Y 2 358 o
BMEBEESS KaXR
FTAEBRE ZE5 -




, NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHBEMESE)

POLICIES (continued)
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2.12 Financial Assets (continued)

(c) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value through other comprehensive
income

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to the consolidated income
statement and recognised in “other income
and other gains, net”. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
“interest income” using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other income and
other gains, net” and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

Equity instrumernts

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to the consolidated
income statement following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in the consolidated
income statement as “other income and other
gains, net” when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.
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